

PATHWAYS TO PROBLEMS:

A follow-up report on the implementation of recommendations from *Pathways to Problems*

Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs 2009

Contents

Acknowledgements	2
Letter to Ministers	3
Background	5
Pathways to Problems	5
Introduction	7
Overview	7
The UK policy and strategy landscape	7
Key policy and strategy developments post-Pathways to Problems	7
Report aims and objectives	9
Mapping of the uptake of the recommendations in Pathways to Problems	11
Engagement with government departments and other stakeholders	11
Progress on the recommendations	13
The role and contribution of other stakeholders	35
ACMD Pathways to Problems conference	35
Feedback from young people	35
Conclusions and suggested actions to build on progress	37
Overall	37
Tobacco and alcohol	37
Volatile substance abuse	38
Substance misuse and prevention	38
References	39
Annex 1: Pathways to Problems – full recommendations	43
Annex 2: Members of the Pathways to Problems Working Group	47
Annex 3: Members of the Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs	49
Annex 4: Officials representing government departments	51

Acknowledgements

The Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs (ACMD) is particularly grateful to the government departments and devolved administrations that contributed to this report.

The ACMD has received a considerable amount of valued input from experts and young people.

We would like to thank the ACMD Secretariat for its administrative support.



Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs

Chair: Professor David Nutt Secretary: Will Reynolds 3rd Floor (SW), Seacole Building 2 Marsham Street London SW1P 4DF July 2009

Dear Home Secretary,

In September 2006, the Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs (ACMD) published the report *Pathways to Problems*. The report focused on the hazardous use of tobacco, alcohol and other drugs by young people in the UK and its implications for policy. We have pleasure in enclosing this subsequent report, which considers progress against our recommendations since 2006.

In broad terms, the ACMD believes there has been significant progress made towards many of the recommendations in the ACMD's *Pathways to Problems* (2006) report. Of note are the increasing recognition of the role of parents and schools, the progress made in tobacco control, and the efforts made via information campaigns to communicate the health risks of alcohol and tobacco. In this report, we also support the work undertaken within the Healthy Schools and the Healthy Further Education programmes, but we recommend broadening this out to include services for young people in the youth justice system.

The ACMD is still concerned about the progress that has been made against recommendations regarding young people's exposure to and use of alcohol. The ACMD has already made known its concerns that the Government did not go to consultation on its alcohol strategy, and we believe that it should take a more proactive approach towards discouraging the culture of excessive drinking and promoting the 'less risky drinking' message. Although the Government receives evidence from a number of sources on alcohol and tobacco use, and on their harms, the ACMD has concerns that there is no equivalent independent expert body, similar to the ACMD, to advise on these issues. We are aware of the advice that Ministers in the UK may receive – from a diversity of expert sources; however, we believe that policy may be the weaker for not having independent, expert advice from a non-departmental public body.

This report would not have been possible without much help and support from others. In particular, the ACMD is indebted to a number of young people who attended meetings so that we could hear at first hand their experiences of drug, alcohol and tobacco use. We are also very grateful for the valuable input and expertise of a number of practitioners in the field, who told us of their experiences of prevention and education of young people in drug, alcohol and tobacco misuse. Finally, we are grateful for the support and advice from government officials, who have kept us informed of their departments' work in this important and fast-moving field.

Yours sincerely,

Caroline Healy

Cardie Heely.

Chair of the Pathways to Problems Working Group Professor David Nutt FMedSci Chair of the Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs

c.c. Other government departments
Devolved administrations



Background

PATHWAYS TO PROBLEMS

1.1 The Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs (ACMD) has a duty under the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971:

"to keep under review the situation in the United Kingdom with respect to drugs which are being or appear to them likely to be misused and of which the misuse is having or appears to them capable of having harmful effects sufficient to constitute a social problem, and to give ... Ministers ... advice on measures ... which ... ought to be taken for preventing the misuse of such drugs or dealing with social problems connected with their misuse."

1.2 In 2006, the ACMD produced a report, *Pathmays to Problems: Hazardous use of tobacco, alcohol and other drugs by young people in the UK and its implications for policy* (ACMD, 2006). The report was the first by the ACMD that specifically addressed alcohol and tobacco (in addition to illicit drugs) – largely in the context of these being 'pathway' substances to illicit substance misuse. The report was predicated on an acknowledgement that:

"The scientific evidence is now clear that nicotine and alcohol have pharmacological actions similar to other psychoactive drugs. Both cause serious health and social problems and there is growing evidence of very strong links between the use of tobacco, alcohol and other drugs." (p14)

- **1.3** The report contained 24 wide-ranging recommendations (see Annex 1) that sought to reduce the number of young people in the UK affected by substance misuse.
- 1.4 The recommendations were primarily intended for government and the devolved administrations to consider. The report was made available to Ministers, and was also widely disseminated, as it was applicable and relevant to practitioners and the public.
- 1.5 In the wake of its 2006 report, the ACMD convened the Pathways to Problems Working Group. The overarching aim of this group was to evaluate the extent to which the recommendations contained within the report were taken forward and implemented.

¹ While the term 'drug' is used in the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 there is no qualification of whether this includes the licit substances alcohol and tobacco. The ACMD has approached the Home Office for clarification of the current terminology in the MDA. The Home Office considered that, for the purposes of the ACMD's role, alcohol and tobacco are implicit in its terms of reference.



Introduction

OVERVIEW

2.1 Pathways to Problems focused on the patterns, trends, influences and determinants observed in the use of psychoactive drugs by young people aged 24 and under in the UK. The report reflected the fact that the use of substances such as tobacco, alcohol and cannabis typically starts in adolescence. Moreover, it voiced the concern that what may start as casual use of such substances:

"may not only lead to immediate harm but may also set the individual on a path leading to dependence and long-term harm, and to the use of 'hard' drugs such as heroin or cocaine." (p14)

- 2.2 The most recent surveys of young people in the UK indicate a decline in tobacco, alcohol and other drug use among certain groups. For example, there has been a long-term decline in the proportion of pupils who have tried smoking - in England, it has fallen from 53% in 1982 to 33% in 2007 (NatCen, 2008). In Scotland, between 2004 and 2006 there was a rise in the proportion of pupils who reported that they had never smoked from 59% to 69% of 13-year-olds, and from 39% to 47% of 15-year-olds (Scottish Executive, 2007). In Wales, between 1998 and 2006 the proportion of 15-year-olds who smoked weekly declined from 21% to 12% for boys, and from 29% to 23% for girls (Office for National Statistics, 2008). The proportion of 11-15-yearolds in England who have never drunk alcohol has risen in recent years - from 39% in 2003 to 46% in 2007 (NatCen, 2008); and the prevalence of drug use has declined overall between 2001 (when 29% of pupils said they had tried drugs at least once) and 2007 (when the figure was 25%) (NatCen, 2008).
- 2.3 Despite these encouraging statistics, the overall figures for alcohol, tobacco and psychoactive drug use among young people in the UK still make for concerning reading. Data from England shows that, by the age of 15, the vast majority of pupils (88%) will have drunk alcohol, smoked and/or tried illicit drugs (NatCen, 2008). It is, therefore, of great importance that Ministers should be well equipped with the current evidence and expert views to make well-founded policy decisions in order to reduce the harm that these substances can cause to young people.

2.4 The data available on illicit drug use at a European level suggests that, among young people, use is confined to a small minority (EMCDDA, 2007). However, the UK has the highest level of self-reported cannabis use before the age of 13. Although the UK is one of a small minority of countries where the trend in the use of cannabis among young people continues to decline, the lifetime prevalence of cannabis use among under-15s is the highest in Europe (EMCDDA, 2007).

THE UK POLICY AND STRATEGY LANDSCAPE

- 2.5 In the UK, the legislative framework covering the harms and associated penalties concerning drugs is provided by the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971. The regulations under the Misuse of Drugs Act (the Misuse of Drugs Regulations 2001) authorise and govern legitimate activities otherwise made illegal under the Act. However, the strategies for enacting this legislation are devolved. England has separate drug and alcohol strategies; Scotland also has a drug strategy (launched in May 2008) and a separate alcohol strategy; whereas Wales and Northern Ireland have each developed substance misuse strategies that include both alcohol and drugs.²
- **2.6** In this report, we have considered the recommendations contained in *Pathways to Problems* within the context of the UK's strategy and policy landscape.

KEY POLICY AND STRATEGY DEVELOPMENTS POST-PATHWAYS TO PROBLEMS

2.7 There have been significant changes across government in departmental responsibilities for children's policy and in the continuing drive for government departments and service providers to work together.

Every Child Matters

- 2.8 The programme set out in *Every Child Matters:* Change for Children (2004)³ is designed to improve the well-being of children and young people from birth to the age of 19. It is the Government's aim that every child, whatever their background or circumstances, should have the support they need to:
- be healthy;
- 2 England does have a joint alcohol and drug Public Service Agreement (PSA 25).
- ${\tt 3\ http://publications.everychild matters.gov.uk/eOrdering Download/DfES 10812004.pdf}$

- stay safe;
- enjoy and achieve;
- make a positive contribution; and
- · achieve economic well-being.
- 2.9 The Every Child Matters programme provides a national framework for local areas to build services around the needs of children and young people, and has a strong focus on the integration of services, early intervention, prevention and the effective use of resources. This programme of work was further strengthened by *The Children's Plan: Building brighter futures*, which was published by the Department for Children, Schools and Families (DCSF) in December 2007.
- 2.10 Every Child Matters prioritises the need for policy-makers and agencies to work together in order to ensure that the needs of children and young people are central to all work programmes. Prevention is a key area an approach that is consistent with the recommendations contained in *Pathways to Problems*.

Drug and alcohol strategies

- 2.11 In 2008, England launched a new 10-year drug strategy *Drugs: protecting families and communities* (HM Government, 2008a). In that same year, Scotland launched its drugs strategy *The Road to Recovery* (Scottish Executive, 2008a) and Wales launched a substance misuse strategy *Working Together to Reduce Harm* (Welsh Assembly Government, 2008). Northern Ireland has developed an integrated approach to preventing and addressing the harm related to alcohol and drug misuse through the *New Strategic Direction for Alcohol and Drugs* (2006–2011) (DHSSPS Northern Ireland, 2006).
- 2.12 The aim of the drug strategy (HM Government, 2008a) is to restrict the supply of illegal drugs and reduce demand for them. The new strategy focuses on protecting families and strengthening communities. The ACMD responded to the Government consultation and welcomed the opportunity to comment on the formulation of the new drug strategy, which draws on evidence concerning current drug policy, crime, prevention, interventions and treatment.

- **2.13** In 2004, the Government published its *Alcohol* Harm Reduction Strategy for England. This crossgovernment strategy has now been revisited, and in 2007 the Government published Safe. Sensible. Social. The next steps in the National Alcohol Strategy (HM Government, 2007a). The ACMD welcomed the production of the strategy and, in particular, the joint Public Service Agreement (PSA) introduced in April 2008 (HM Government, 2007b), which set out in its vision a longterm and sustainable reduction in the harms associated with alcohol and drugs. The ACMD also welcomed the joined-up approach by the devolved administrations – for example, Northern Ireland's New Strategic Direction for Alcohol and Drugs and the Welsh Assembly Government's new strategy Working Together to Reduce Harm, which explicitly covers 'alcohol, drugs and other substances'.
- 2.14 In October 2008, the ACMD contributed to the Department of Health's consultation paper *Safe, Sensible, Social Consultation on further action.* In response, the ACMD strongly supported the Government's indicated direction of travel that the alcohol industry's retailing code should be revised 'with a view to making it mandatory in retail premises that sell alcohol (on-licensed and off-licensed)'.

Know Your Limits campaign

2.15 The Alcohol: Know Your Limits⁵ campaign is a welcome addition to providing public health information on the dangers concerning the misuse of alcohol.

Youth Alcohol Action Plan

2.16 The Youth Alcohol Action Plan (YAAP) (DCSF et al., 2008) sets out to develop guidelines for young people and parents/carers on the risks of drinking alcohol, building on the alcohol strategy. One of the key proposals of the YAAP is to develop a national consensus on young people and drinking, with the view that there should be clearer information for young people and parents/carers about the risks of drinking alcohol.

Youth Crime Action Plan

2.17 The 2008 Youth Crime Action Plan sets out the Government's approach to making streets safer and dealing with anti-social behaviour. The plan dovetails

⁴ For the ACMD response, see http://drugs.homeoffice.gov.uk/publication-search/acmd/ACMDDH

⁵ http://units.nhs.uk/index.php

with both the Government's drug and alcohol strategies for young people (see 2.11, 2.12 and 2.16 above).

2.18 In addition to these strategies and campaigns, there have been several other government policy initiatives to address and prevent the use of drugs (licit and illicit) by young people, including:

- Extended Services;
- Healthy Schools;
- Healthy FE;
- Targeted Mental Health in Schools; and
- Targeted Youth Support.

Wales

Rights to Action

2.19 The Welsh Assembly Government set out its vision for children and young people in *Children and Young People: Rights to Action* (Welsh Assembly Government, 2004). This is based on the United Nations Convention on the Rights of the Child (UNCRC)⁶ and a commitment to partnership working to improve outcomes. Partners jointly decide their priorities, objectives and performance measures under each of seven core aims – two of which specifically address substance misuse.

2.20 The Welsh Assembly Government's approach to implementing the Children Act 2004 is to strengthen its current partnership and planning arrangements through statutory guidance. This approach differs significantly from that in England, in that there are no children's trusts, nor any requirement to merge children's social services and education under a single director. Leadership roles in local authorities, local health boards and NHS trusts concentrate on leading change and enabling joint working to take place. They do not imply responsibility for the delivery of particular services.

Working Together to Reduce Harm

2.21 Launched in October 2008, Working Together to Reduce Harm is the Welsh Assembly Government's 10-year substance misuse strategy, covering 2008–18. It seeks to set out a clear national agenda for tackling and

reducing the harms associated with substance misuse in Wales. It sets out the approach to tackling the full range of substances that are misused in Wales – illegal drugs, alcohol, prescription-only medicines, over-the-counter preparations and volatile substances. The key action areas of the strategy are:

- preventing harm;
- supporting substance misusers;
- · supporting families; and
- tackling availability and protecting individuals and communities.

2.22 While continuing to take a joint approach to tackling drugs, alcohol and other substances, it acknowledges that there are distinctive issues to be considered in relation to alcohol misuse. Thus, a clear consensus exists for the Welsh strategy to focus on tackling the problems caused by inappropriate or risky consumption of alcohol.

Hidden Harm

2.23 The ACMD, too, has added to the body of work in this area by publishing its report *Hidden Harm Three Years On* (ACMD, 2007) – a follow-up report illustrating the progress that had been made in implementation of the ACMD's original report, which focused on those children in the UK with a parent, parents or other guardian whose drug use has serious negative consequences for themselves and those around them.

REPORT AIMS AND OBJECTIVES

2.24 It is not the intention of this report to review the whole gamut of initiatives and strategies: to do so would require much greater resources and far more time than we have available. However, there is now evidence, through policy and initiatives, that the health and wellbeing of young people is now starting to get the attention we believe they deserve. This report seeks to document and comment on the progress that has been made in implementing the recommendations of the original *Pathways to Problems* report since its publication and dissemination in 2006.

⁶ The UNCRC is an international human rights treaty that grants all children and young people (aged 17 and under) a comprehensive set of rights. The UK signed the Convention on 19 April 1990 and ratified it on 16 December 1991, and it came into force in the UK on 15 January 1992. When a country ratifies the Convention, it agrees to do everything it can to implement it.



Mapping the uptake of the recommendations in *Pathways to Problems*

ENGAGEMENT WITH GOVERNMENT DEPARTMENTS AND OTHER STAKEHOLDERS

- 3.1 Pathways to Problems concluded with 24 wide-ranging recommendations and indicated appropriate leads for their implementation. In order to establish how the recommendations are being taken forward and implemented, the ACMD engaged with the relevant government departments in England, Northern Ireland, Scotland and Wales. Engagement with government departments took place by means of a questionnaire and meetings with officials.
- 3.2 The questionnaire asked government departments to respond formally to each of the recommendations, indicating whether:
- the department would follow it up in full or in part;
- the department would consider it in full or in part;
- the activity was covered at devolved administration level; and
- there was no known current activity; or
- activity relevant to Pathways was being undertaken that was not covered by a specific recommendation.
- **3.3** For those recommendations that a department was following up, we asked for an indication of whether it had been:
- started;
- not yet started but planned; or
- not planned but action likely.
- 3.4 As well as requesting feedback from government departments, the ACMD held a conference for practitioners and stakeholders (see section on 'The role and contribution of other stakeholders') to gather their views and examples of good practice. The ACMD also heard evidence from charitable organisations and industries concerned with substance misuse.
- 3.5 We have used the responses from government departments to the questionnaire as a baseline for our comments on implementation and progress.



Progress on the recommendations

RECOMMENDATION 1

As their actions are similar and their harmfulness to individuals and society is no less than that of other psychoactive drugs, tobacco and alcohol should be explicitly included within the terms of reference of the Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs.

Action: Home Office.

- 4.1 The terms of reference of the ACMD, set out in section 1 of the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971, refers to the ACMD's duty to keep under review the situation with respect to drugs which are 'likely to be misused and of which the misuse is having or appears [to them] capable of having harmful effects sufficient to constitute a social problem'. The term 'drugs' in this context is not defined by the Act.
- 4.2 When asked by the ACMD for its view, the Home Office replied that it considered alcohol and tobacco to be implicit in the ACMD's terms of reference, as these are substances that can be misused. The view of the ACMD is that alcohol and tobacco come within the terms of reference, but to date they have not been explicitly included in the Council's work (an important exception being the ACMD *Pathways to Problems* report).
- 4.3 The Government is obliged to consult with the ACMD before laying orders before Parliament or making regulations under the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971. As they are not explicitly included within the Act, the Government has not consulted the Council on changes in legislation relating to alcohol and tobacco. However, the ACMD's terms of reference also state that it is under a duty to consider any matter relating to drug dependence or misuse that may be referred to it by the Government this is not restricted to those drugs covered by the Act. Therefore, there seems to be no legal barrier to the ACMD considering matters pertaining to alcohol and tobacco.
- 4.4 Regarding tobacco, the ACMD acknowledges the expert input that government departments receive through the UK Centre for Tobacco Control Studies. The ACMD understands that such expertise is directly reported to the Government's Tobacco Programme

Board and, at ministerial level, through the devolved administrations. The ACMD is aware that similar expert input is available with regard to alcohol. Nevertheless, it is of concern to the ACMD that, while the Government does conduct consultations on matters relating to alcohol and tobacco, and does seek the views of relevant stakeholders, there is no equivalent independent expert body, so far as we are aware, that undertakes a role analagous to that of the ACMD.

- 4.5 The ACMD does not believe that it is necessarily best placed to take up this broadened scope of remit (as currently constituted, it does not have the necessary resources to undertake the same role for alcohol and tobacco as it does for illicit drugs). However, it does believe that there is a need to provide Ministers with expert, independent advice in an effort to strengthen the decision-making process in the formulation of alcohol and tobacco policy.
- 4.6 The ACMD intends to draft an options paper for the Government's consideration, gathering evidence and proposals and outlining the alternatives for formal independent advisory structures for alcohol and tobacco.

RECOMMENDATION 2

The Government should ensure that young people are repeatedly made aware of the real hazards of using tobacco, alcohol and other drugs. This should be done in ways that are accurate, credible and consistent, using a variety of routes including the media, the school system and further and higher education. In particular, we endorse the decision taken by the Government in January 2006 to conduct an education campaign to communicate the risks of cannabis use for mental and physical health.

Action: Department for Education and Skills (DfES), Department of Health (DH), Home Office, devolved administrations.

- **4.7** There are a number of public information campaigns that address young people (e.g. FRANK⁷ and the THINK! drink-driving campaign). However, it should be acknowledged that young people will take risks and that such behaviour is part of growing up. We believe, therefore, that campaigns and information provision should be about guiding young people and helping them to make informed choices.
- 4.8 We give the Government credit for its regular anti-smoking and drink awareness campaigns (e.g. NHS Smokefree, the Department of Health's campaign against exposure to second-hand smoke and its Know Your Limits campaign). We also applaud the role charities and agencies play in supporting young people in this area.
- 4.9 Since our original *Pathways to Problems* report, there seems to have been a growing acknowledgement by the Government of the actual and potentially hazardous use of alcohol by children and young people. This has been evidenced, among other things, by the development of Know Your Limits the Department of Health-led social marketing campaign aimed at young people (primarily the 18–24 age group). The Government has also made commitments in respect of young people in its alcohol strategy, published as *Safe. Sensible. Social.* (HM Government, 2007a). It focuses specifically on preventing harm in the under-18s and on addressing binge drinking by 18–24-year-olds.
- **4.10** The Department of Health has worked to incorporate the potential risks of using alcohol and other drugs into communications about other risky behaviour. An example of this is the series of radio adverts for the Condom Essential Wear campaign, which mention the effects of alcohol consumption in making safer-sex decisions.
- 4.11 Since the ACMD's call for a substantial public information campaign on the health risks of cannabis use, the Home Office, Department of Health and Department for Children, Schools and Families have worked closely together on the issue. In autumn 2006, they launched a multi-faceted campaign under the FRANK brand. There was also additional advertising

- about the risks and effects of cannabis on television, radio and the internet, and three new cannabis information leaflets were published for young people, parents, and heavy and regular cannabis users, respectively. Evaluation of this FRANK campaign activity revealed that overall awareness of FRANK was 89%, and 94% of 15–18-year-olds recognised FRANK advertising.
- 4.12 We note that independent audience-insight research was undertaken to inform the development of the key campaigns FRANK and Know Your Limits. In light of such practice, we would also like to see young people's opinions incorporated into the planning of future information campaigns and strategies.
- 4.13 As part of the follow-up process, the ACMD's discussions with young people have highlighted the fact that they welcome accessible presentation of the facts about the risks and hazards of substance use, rather than a didactic approach that may be counterproductive.
- **4.14** FRANK is an example of a website that provides information in a user-friendly, factual way and most importantly that has brand recognition through its longevity. While it is difficult to assess the perceived credibility of campaigns, we are aware that the FRANK campaign has annual tracking, which finds that 88% of young people surveyed 'trust FRANK a great deal' and 81% would 'recommend FRANK to a friend'.
- 4.15 The Home Office funded a mental health charity, YoungMinds, to produce a set of information leaflets aimed at mental health professionals working with young people, young people themselves and their parents. These contain information on the risks of cannabis use and mental health.
- **4.16** The DCSF worked with the Home Office and the Department of Health to produce *Understanding Drugs* a teaching resource and pupil leaflet developed for pupils at Key Stage 3 (11–14-year-olds). The pack covers information on the most commonly used illicit and legal drugs. It was promoted by the DCSF and the TeacherNet website, and was made available to every English secondary school in September 2006.
- 7 See the Talk to Frank website at www.talktofrank.com/
- 8 Further consideration of the classification of cannabis under the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 ACMD, 2006.
- 9 See the Talk to Frank website at www.talktofrank.com/
- 10 See the online publications for schools website at http://publications.teachernet.gov.uk/default.aspx?PageFunction=productdetails&Page Mode=publications&ProductId=DFES-0418-2006&

4.17 In Scotland, under Curriculum for Excellence, the 'Health and wellbeing' area of the new 3–18 curriculum includes learning outcomes and experiences that will provide teachers with opportunities to develop young people's awareness of alcohol, drugs, tobacco and other substances, as well as their associated risks to health.

4.18 Curriculum for Excellence represents another significant strategic development to support and encourage the Health Promoting Schools agenda. Significantly, for the first time ever, all teachers will have responsibility for promoting health and well-being. In addition, a new duty has been introduced by the Schools (Health Promotion and Nutrition) (Scotland) Act 2007 on Scottish Ministers and local authorities to endeavour to ensure that schools are health promoting. This duty came into force in January 2008, and for the first time there is now a legislative underpinning for health promotion in schools.

4.19 In Wales, we have seen the establishment of the All Wales School Liaison Core Programme (AWSLCP), delivered at key stages in 97% of primary and secondary schools. This programme aims to provide a core programme of accurate, consistent and credible information about substance misuse (including misuse of alcohol and solvents) and other community safety information around which additional and locally determined prevention initiatives can be built. An evaluation to measure the impact of the AWSLCP on children and young people was undertaken in December 2007 (Welsh Assembly Government, 2007).

4.20 Guidance on Good Practice for the Provision of Services to Children and Young People who Use or Misuse Substances in Wales was published in July 2008 as part of the Substance Misuse Treatment Framework for Wales (SMTF). The document aims to assist planners and service providers in establishing effective services for young people in relation to substance misuse, and includes specific examples of how education can be universally delivered.

4.21 Work has also begun on developing a 'volatile substance abuse' module of the SMTF, which is due for publication by March 2010. This module will include guidance on the problems of volatile substances being so accessible, together with the need for awareness of the dangers of these substances.

4.22 Northern Ireland has, for a number of years, had guidance in place for all schools to develop policies and education programmes to combat alcohol and drug misuse. This has now been complemented by a new curriculum, which places greater emphasis on developing skills and on preparing young people for life and work. The revised post-primary curriculum includes a new area of 'Learning for Life and Work'.¹¹

4.23 The ACMD commends the Government for the extensive work that has been undertaken against this key recommendation. It is apparent that there has been substantial activity in recognition of the growing concerns about young people's use of alcohol and other substances, and we welcome the work that has been undertaken to highlight the risks and potential harm of cannabis. We would welcome further work in evaluation of the public health campaigns relating to alcohol and cannabis use, in addition to the ongoing FRANK campaign, in order to determine the most effective means of conveying such messages to children and young people.

RECOMMENDATION 3

Periodic, large-scale surveys of representative samples of 11–15-year-olds should continue, with coverage across the whole of the UK, using the same definitions and questions regarding tobacco, alcohol and other drug use, including volatile substances. To quantify the number of young people of this age who frequently use drugs other than tobacco or alcohol, such surveys should include questions about their weekly and more frequent use.

Action: DH, DfES (now the DCSF), Home Office, devolved administrations.

RECOMMENDATION 4

In order to obtain information about the extent to which 16–30-year-olds are combining the use of tobacco and alcohol with illegal drugs, the Health Survey of England and its equivalents in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland should include a small number of identical questions about the use of drugs other than tobacco and alcohol, including volatile substances.

Action: DH, devolved administrations.

RECOMMENDATION 5

A longitudinal follow-up lifestyle study of a representative sample of 16–30-year-olds should be commissioned to enable drug use to be seen in the wider context of their lives.

Action: DH.

- **4.24** Our commentary on recommendations 3–5 has been combined, since these recommendations all refer to increasing the evidence base on substance misuse among young people.
- 4.25 We welcome the DCSF's commitment to continue with surveys of tobacco, alcohol and drug use by 11–15-year-olds. The Tellus2 survey (Ofsted, 2007) and subsequent Tellus3 survey will be used to measure National Indicator 115 (Substance misuse by young people), part of the national indicator set used by local authorities and their partner agencies to measure performance against PSA 14 (HM Government, 2008b).
- 4.26 We understand that the DCSF will survey schoolchildren's drug usage, including volatile substance abuse (VSA). It is important that the question(s) are phrased correctly, so that users understand what use is included and avoid under-reporting. Experts from Re-Solv (the national charity dedicated solely to the prevention of solvent and volatile substance abuse) and the British Aerosol Manufacturers' Association have offered to help prepare a form of words based on their experience in schools.

- 4.27 We welcome the extension of the British Crime Survey to cover under-16s from January 2009 (limited information will be collected on the use of alcohol and cannabis). The ACMD believes that the scope of data collection among the under-16s should be broadened to reflect changing patterns of substance use. However, although the ACMD is aware of several large-scale surveys relating to generic drug and alcohol use in the 11–15-year-old age group, we are not aware of any current large-scale surveys that include, or are specific to, reporting the use of volatile substances.
- 4.28 At present, England, Scotland and Wales are partners in Health Behaviour in School-aged Children an adolescent health study, which includes questions on the use of tobacco, alcohol and other drugs (Office for National Statistics, 2008). Questions on tobacco, alcohol and cannabis use are mandatory, but it is up to the national teams to decide whether to include questions on other drugs. However, with reference to recommendations 4 and 5, as far as the ACMD is aware, there is no true harmonisation of questions across the UK countries, and little is being done to identify substance misuse in the age group 16–30.
- 4.29 While mortality figures have shown a decline in recent years in terms of deaths from VSA, it does not necessarily follow that the amount of volatile substance use has similarly declined. Given the often secretive nature of this form of abuse, it is hard to elicit quantifiable data to substantiate levels of use. Topic-specific surveys on VSA may be one way around this.
- **4.30** The ACMD welcomes the Government's commitment, in its 10-year drugs strategy:
 - "to develop a strategic research programme ... that draws on enhanced partnership working between government, academia and the wider international research community in order to further develop our evidence base and support the delivery of our new drug strategy" (HM Government, 2008a, p56).
- **4.31** The ACMD considers recommendation 3 to have been addressed, and recognises that there is a strong commitment to identify means of delivering the drugs strategy in an effective way, through the use of annual surveys and research programmes.

RECOMMENDATION 6

It should become an offence to sell tobacco products to anyone under the age of 18 (raised from the present age of 16), and this new limit should be strictly enforced. The impact of this change should be carefully evaluated.

Action: DH, devolved administrations.

- 4.32 Since publication of *Pathways to Problems*, the law has been changed to restrict the sale of tobacco products to those aged 18 and over. The change came into force in England, Wales and Scotland on 1 October 2007, and in Northern Ireland on 1 September 2008.
- 4.33 In 2008, new legislation was introduced in England and Wales to strengthen the sanctions available against retailers who sell tobacco products to people under the legal age. The Government has provided additional funding for local authorities to carry out enforcement.
- 4.34 Further measures to reduce smoking by young people were included in the consultation on the future of tobacco control in England and Wales (Department of Health, 2008a). These include: further restrictions on advertising and promotion of tobacco products at the point of sale; controls on the sale from vending machines; the introduction of plain packaging (i.e. generic, standardised packaging without trademarks or colour schemes); and an increase in the minimum pack size (packs of 10 cigarettes are cheaper and more affordable for young people). The ACMD fully supports the introduction of such measures.
- 4.35 In May 2008, the Scottish Government published a new long-term Smoking Prevention Action Plan *Scotland's Future is Smoke-free* (Scottish Government, 2008b). This sets out an ambitious programme of measures, designed specifically to dissuade children and young people from smoking. It includes a commitment to further statutory controls on the sale and display of tobacco products, which are enshrined in the Tobacco and Primary Medical Services (Scotland) Bill. This bill was published in February 2009 and is progressing through the Scottish Parliament.

4.36 The ACMD welcomes the developments in line with this recommendation and is encouraged by the change in legislation and the enforcement resources that have been provided to local authorities.

RECOMMENDATION 7

Given the strong evidence that increasing the price of alcohol reduces consumption overall and may have a disproportionately large effect on consumption by young people, the Government should seriously consider progressively raising the excise duty on alcohol.

Action: HM Treasury.

- **4.37** The commitment announced in the 2008 Budget to increase alcohol duty by 2% above inflation in each of the following four years is in line with our recommendation for a progressive increase in the cost of alcohol.
- **4.38** Despite the increases in alcohol duty, there is evidence that supermarkets absorb the increase and are continuing to sell alcohol at heavily discounted prices, or within a framework of multi-buy promotions.
- 4.39 In 2008, the Department of Health published an independent review by the School of Health and Related Research at the University of Sheffield (ScHARR), which sought to understand better the link between alcohol-related harm and the way alcohol is promoted and priced. As well as examining the likely impact of pricing changes on the population as a whole, the review looked specifically at the impact on drinkers under 18 years of age, 18–24-year-old binge drinkers, and harmful drinkers. The review concluded that there is a clear relationship between the price of alcohol and consumption (Department of Health, 2008b).
- 4.40 The ACMD supports the recommendation of the Chief Medical Officer for England, Sir Liam Donaldson, to introduce minimum-price legislation for alcohol.

4.41 We note that in Wales, matters relating to taxation/excise duty and to alcohol licensing have not been devolved. The 10-year substance misuse strategy *Working Together to Reduce Harm* (Welsh Assembly Government, 2008) makes clear the Welsh Assembly Government's support for increases in alcohol taxation and the introduction of minimum pricing. In addition, the strategy supports stricter controls on the promotion of alcohol and a mandatory code of conduct for the alcohol industry. The Welsh Assembly Government has lobbied the UK Government on these issues.

4.42 The ACMD believes that good progress has been made against this recommendation, and welcomes the increases in alcohol excise duty announced in the 2008 and 2009 Budgets. However, we are concerned at the way that larger commercial outlets are able to offset any price increase using discounted offers. Given the relationship between the price of alcohol and its level of consumption, we feel that this is an area that requires further government action, in line with the recommendation by the Chief Medical Officer for England.

RECOMMENDATION 8

Given the continuing rise in the prevalence of alcohol-related health problems and the high levels of drinking among young people, we recommend that a much stricter code for alcohol advertising (including via the internet) and sponsorship should be established. This would include prohibiting alcohol advertising on TV or in cinemas showing films to under-18s and prohibiting sponsorship by alcohol companies of sports or music events attended or watched by under-18s.

Action: Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS).

4.43 *The Children's Plan* (DCSF, 2007) included a commitment to look at further measures to reduce excessive alcohol consumption by children and young people under the age of 18. A study by Ofcom and the

Advertising Standards Authority (ASA) attempted to assess the impact of strengthened alcohol advertising rules on young people's attitudes to alcohol advertising (Ofcom/ASA, 2007).

4.44 As was reported in the *Youth Alcohol Action Plan* published in June 2008, it was found that, while current restrictions have reduced young people's exposure to alcohol advertising 'young people remain exposed to such adverts and find them appealing' (DCSF *et al.*, 2008, p16). Although alcoholic drink suppliers have reduced TV spend, it is of concern that young people surveyed felt some of the 'edgier' advertisements made the drink appealing and would encourage people to drink, with 34% believing that in 2007, compared with 25% in 2005. This accords with recent research, which provides evidence that the way certain types of alcohol are marketed particularly appeals to young people. 12, 13

4.45 The plan identified five priorities:

- 1. stepping up enforcement activity to address young people drinking in public places;
- 2. taking action with industry on young people and alcohol;
- 3. developing a national consensus on young people and drinking;
- 4. establishing a new partnership with parents on teenage drinking; and
- 5. supporting young people to make sensible decisions about alcohol.

4.46 The Department of Health independent review (see 4.38) found 'evidence of small but consistent effects of advertising on consumption of alcohol by young people at an individual level' (Department of Health, 2008b, Part A, p82). Furthermore, the research found that there was evidence to suggest that advertising (not including that on television) may 'increase the likelihood of young people starting to drink, the amount they drink, and the amount they drink on any one occasion' (Department of Health, 2008b, Part A, p85). However, the researchers did feel that the findings were inconclusive and proposed the need for further research in this area. Recent changes to the advertising standards

¹² Safe, Sensible, Social – Consultation on further action: Impact Assessments, p30, available at: www.dh.gov.uk/en/Consultations/Liveconsultations/DH_086412

¹³ Appealing Alcohol Beverages and Marketing Practices in Europe, ELSA, May 2007, available at www.alcoholreclame.nl/content/bestanden/elsa_5_appealing_alcohol1.pdf

in children's food as part of the Government's commitment to change the nature and balance of food and drink advertising to children have demonstrated the level of change that can be achieved.¹⁴

- 4.47 In response to the Department of Health's consultation paper Safe, Sensible, Social Consultation on further action, the Secretary of State for Culture, Media and Sport asked the Committee of Advertising Practice (CAP) and the Broadcast Committee of Advertising Practice (BCAP) to take into account the ScHARR review (Department of Health, 2008b) as part of the current CAP and BCAP code review. Having completed a detailed analysis of the ScHARR review findings, the CAP and the BCAP considered that the review contained insufficient evidence to warrant further revision of the alcohol advertising rules (Advertising Standards Authority, 2009).
- 4.48 The ACMD understands that there is a system of indexing programmes of appeal to children aged under 18. If a disproportionately large number of under-18s watch a programme, the broadcaster may not place alcohol adverts in or around it.
- 4.49 In its response to the Department of Health's consultation paper *Safe, Sensible, Social Consultation on further action*, ¹⁵ the ACMD recommended that the Department of Health should carefully consider the impact of alcohol-related sponsorship for example, music festivals, sporting events and sports teams/clubs. In addition, it supported the implementation of a policy to promote 'less risky drinking', which would introduce 'a mandatory end frame with an average duration of one-sixth of total advertising minutes displayed on broadcast and cinema advertising, with similar restriction for printed advertising'.
- **4.50** The ACMD also supports Alcohol Concern's recommendations that:
- Drink adverts should be banned between 6am and 9pm, to ensure that the majority of children are not able to see this form of alcohol advertising.
- Drink adverts should be banned during programmes that run after the watershed but are still likely to appeal to children.

- The regulations covering scheduling need to be made clearer and the sanctions for when these are contravened should be publicly promoted.
- Broadcast codes should be brought into line with a clear definition of programming likely to appeal to children.
- 4.51 Overall, there has been some progress against this recommendation. However, the ACMD does believe that further action needs to be taken as outlined above, to protect children and young people from succumbing to the attractiveness bestowed on alcohol through and by the media. Several EU member states already have restrictions that go beyond the European directive for example, prohibiting television advertisements for alcoholic drinks in excess of a given alcohol content.

RECOMMENDATION 9

Given the unequivocal evidence that many under-18s buy alcohol and many under-16s buy tobacco, the age-of-purchase laws for tobacco and alcohol should in future be much more strictly applied. Vendors should be encouraged to require proof of age and compliance should be reinforced through the use of underage test-purchasing and the prosecution of offenders.

Action: DH, Department of Trade and Industry, devolved administrations.

- 4.52 Since the ACMD's recommendation in 2006 that it should be an offence to sell tobacco products to anyone under the age of 18, the law has been changed and tobacco is now restricted for sale to over-18s only. The ACMD strongly supports this change in legislation and effective enforcement to prevent the sale of tobacco products to children under the age of 18.
- 4.53 However, the ACMD has concerns that point-of-sale restrictions have not been effective in reducing the availability of cigarettes to young people. The ACMD strongly supports the use of test-purchasing and the national alcohol misuse enforcement campaigns that were initiated in 2004 across England and Wales.

¹⁴ Changes in Food and Drink Advertising and Promotion to Children, Department of Health, October 2008.

¹⁵ Full response available at: http://drugs.homeoffice.gov.uk/publication-search/acmd/ACMDDH

4.54 While much progress has been made in encouraging test-purchasing, the ACMD would welcome moves to facilitate greater implementation of such schemes. The ACMD recognises that test-purchase schemes are expensive and difficult to carry out (e.g. test-purchasers are not allowed to lie about their age if challenged). The ACMD would encourage take-up of the voluntary test-purchasing schemes, as outlined in the *Youth Alcohol Action Plan* (DCSF et al., 2008).

4.55 We fully support Northern Ireland's intention to develop and enforce test-purchasing legislation. The legislation requires police and trading standards officers to target premises breaking the law by selling to under-18s. It is hoped that this approach will ensure that retailers strengthen their procedures and training of staff in relation to underage sales. The ACMD will await the results of the evaluation to determine the effectiveness of such an approach.

4.56 We welcome feedback from the Scottish Government that it intends to apply age-of-purchase laws more rigorously. It plans to introduce a form of licensing scheme for retailers who sell tobacco products, and are considering ways of assisting trading standards officers in enforcement. In addition, the 'Young Scot Card' and other local proof-of-age schemes are to be applauded. Cardholders are provided with an incentive to carry proof of age, as they can use the cards to obtain discounts on food, leisure activities and driving lessons.

4.57 The ACMD understands that in Scotland the results of the Scottish Schools Adolescent Lifestyle and Substance Use Survey (SALSUS) will be used to monitor the success of the new law in the strategy to prevent and dissuade young people from smoking. Importantly, one survey question will specifically seek to gather information on how young people source cigarettes. The results of this evaluation should be considered UK-wide.

4.58 While we commend the progress that has been made in the area of test-purchasing, we feel that further progress could be made by a more vigorous approach to tackling underage sales. Further progress could be made if there was greater enforcement – with vendors requiring proof of age (see the Scottish example above), with test-purchasing being made easier for trading standards officers to implement, and with tougher

sanctions imposed on those breaching licensing conditions. The ACMD would support implementation of the Licensing Act Review proposal (referenced in the YAAP) to change the offence of persistently selling alcohol to a person under 18 from 'three strikes' to 'two strikes' for shops selling alcohol to underage purchasers.

RECOMMENDATION 10

The current arrangements to control the supply of drugs covered by the Misuse of Drugs Act (1971) should be reviewed to determine whether any further cost-effective and politically acceptable measures can be taken to reduce the availability of drugs to young people.

Action: Home Office.

4.59 *Pathways to Problems* stated that there was little good recent evidence on the impact of drug control measures on the availability of drugs, levels of drug use or even street prices. However, the UK Government's 2008 drug strategy (HM Government, 2008a) states that there is 'some evidence' that enforcement activity can affect drug prices and that taking action to increase the price of drugs is worthwhile.

4.60 Measures in the drug strategy action plan to control the supply of drugs include increased asset seizures from drug dealers, improved enforcement approaches to tackle local drug markets and expanded international cooperation to combat the production and transit of drugs.

4.61 Tackling the trafficking and supply, particularly of Class A drugs, is one of the priorities of the Serious Organised Crime Agency (SOCA). In its 2008/09 Annual Report SOCA claims that supply-side activity had made 'a discernable difference' to cocaine accessibility, purity and price.¹⁶

4.62 The charity DrugScope, in its 2008 annual drug trend survey (DrugScope, 2008), reported shortages of heroin in some parts of the UK. However, it was unclear whether this was the result of enforcement activity having an impact on availability.

4.63 In January 2007, the Government accepted the ACMD's recommendation that methylamphetamine (crystal meth) should be reclassified as a Class A drug. This followed concerns about a possible increase in its production and use. The move has enabled the police to give greater priority to intelligence gathering and enforcement activity.

4.64 Since publication of *Pathways to Problems* in 2006, there has been evidence of a significant increase in cannabis cultivation in the UK (ACMD, 2008a). While the police have had considerable success in identifying and closing cannabis farms, the scale of cannabis farm production in the UK is unclear.

4.65 Though the ACMD recognises the activity that is being undertaken by law enforcement agencies to restrict the availability of drugs generally, we are not aware of any specific measures being taken to reduce the availability to young people. We welcome the police activity to attempt to reduce the number of cannabis farms and the Government's acceptance of the recommendation to classify methylamphetamine as a Class A drug.

RECOMMENDATION 11

A fully integrated approach should be taken to the development of policies designed to prevent the hazardous use of tobacco, alcohol and other drugs.

Action: All relevant government departments.

4.66 We welcome the fact that, in Northern Ireland, the Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety (DHSSPS) has developed an integrated strategy to prevent and address the harm related to alcohol and drug misuse through its *New Strategic Direction for Alcohol and Drugs (2006–2011)*. While the prevention of tobacco harm and misuse has been taken forward by a separate strategy (the *Five Year Tobacco Action Plan* (2003)), we note that responsibility for its delivery sits within the same unit in the department.

4.67 We welcome the Welsh Assembly Government's decision to develop a combined strategy for tackling the harms associated with alcohol, drugs and other substances – *Working Together to Reduce Harm*.

4.68 While in Scotland there are separate strategic documents to address and prevent tobacco, alcohol and drug misuse, we welcome the coordination in their delivery. The directorates of the Scottish Government responsible for driving forward these policies are working closely together to ensure that there is a synergy between the different strands.

4.69 The ACMD welcomes the creation of the Department for Children, Schools and Families (DCSF). The refocused department is better aligned than was its predecessor (the Department for Education and Skills (DfES)) in taking forward the agenda for the hazardous use of substances by young people, and is the lead department for England.

4.70 The DCSF is the lead department in the implementation of PSA 14 and PSA 25 (HM Government, 2008b and 2007b), both of which have high-profile and explicit requirements for local organisations to address children's and young people's use of tobacco, alcohol and drugs. The use of National Indicator 115 (Substance misuse by young people) at local authority level is designed to promote an integrated approach towards achievement against the PSAs across local agencies and organisations.

4.71 The ACMD commends the Government for the policy development and structural changes at central government and local authority level that have been made to promote better cross-agency integration. We believe that these changes will assist in the prevention of drug use and will enable easier and earlier intervention in problem drug use among young people.

RECOMMENDATION 12 (See page 24)

RECOMMENDATION 13

Given the poorer driving skills and higher accident rates among inexperienced young drivers, the Government should give consideration to reducing the maximum legal blood alcohol rate for drivers under 25 years of age to 50mg per 100ml. If successful, this could be extended to drivers of all ages.

Action: Department for Transport.

- 4.72 The ACMD acknowledges the THINK! drinkdriving advertising campaign, launched in 2007, which targets young men up to the age of 30.
- 4.73 The evidence shows that 20% of drink-drive fatal accidents involve a driver aged 20–24 (16% aged 25–29) (DfT, 2008b). The data (for 2006) shows that, of the 920 car drivers who were killed/seriously injured and who were over the alcohol limit, 360 were aged 16–24. For motorcyclists, the corresponding figures are 340 casualties, 140 of them aged 16–24.
- 4.74 The Department for Transport (DfT) has published a consultation on road safety compliance, which includes proposals to reduce drink-driving (DfT, 2008a). The consultation commits to keeping the present blood alcohol concentration (BAC) limit under review, but describes any change in the prescribed BAC to below the current 80mg per 100ml as 'a significant change of strategy'. The problem identified is that there is insufficient evidence to predict changes in drinking behaviour if the limit were reduced. The consultation document specifically notes that a lower limit for 'novice' drivers 'would convey the wrong message at the wrong time', as it would allow a higher BAC limit for drivers once they ceased to be 'novices'.
- 4.75 The current BAC limit is 80mg per 100ml. The evidence shows that most drivers who are prosecuted are well over this limit. Set against this statistic is the decreasing number of people killed or seriously injured. In a response to the DfT consultation, the ACMD considered that there are four options to further reduce the number killed or seriously injured:
- greater public awareness campaigns;
- increased enforcement response;
- lower BAC possibly split age group; or
- a combination of the above.
- 4.76 The ACMD believes that the current statistics for accidents among the younger age groups provide a good reason for considering legislation changes that could better safeguard those accumulating age-related experience. The ACMD does not believe that such a change would send a message to young drivers that it is

- acceptable for them to drink more once they reach a certain age, but it would be a measure that would target those most at risk.
- 4.77 In responding to the consultation, the ACMD reiterated to government that it should consider reducing the legal BAC to 50mg per 100ml or less for drivers under the age of 25. Lowering the BAC would bring the UK more into line with other European countries (see Foreign and Commonwealth Office website 'Travel advice by country').
- 4.78 In 2007, the Transport Select Committee recommended that there was a case for introducing a 20mg per 100ml BAC limit 'which in practice is effectively zero' for 'novice drivers' (i.e. those with less than three years' driving experience). While drivers under the age of 20 are, by definition, novice drivers, the recommendation was not specific to this age group (House of Commons Transport Committee, 2007).
- 4.79 The Chief Medical Officer for England, in his 2007 annual report, recommended that the legal blood alcohol rate for drivers aged between 17 and 20 years should be reduced to zero (Donaldson, 2008).
- 4.80 The ACMD does not believe there are any practical problems with enforcement, such as calibration of alcohol detection devices and verification of age. The ACMD does not believe that concerns regarding roadside verification of age are an obstacle to enforcement of such a policy, particularly as there is an expectation that proof of age is a requirement before purchase of alcohol. In addition, the ACMD understands that alcohol detection devices could be calibrated to different thresholds, and that there is provision within the Road Traffic Act for verification of age to take place at the roadside.
- 4.81 Studies in both New Zealand (Kypri et al., 2006) and the USA (Voas et al., 2003) provide evidence in support of more stringent alcohol-purchasing legislation for younger drivers and the impact of such a move on reducing traffic crash injuries. The US study concluded that 'the policy of limiting youth access to alcohol, through minimum legal drinking age laws and reinforcing this action by making it illegal for underage drivers to have any alcohol in their system, appears to have been

effective in reducing the proportion of fatal crashes involving drinking drivers' (Voas *et al.*, 2003). While the ACMD is not advocating an increase in the minimum age at which alcohol may be purchased, these studies clearly demonstrate the effectiveness of restricting alcohol availability to young people.

4.82 The ACMD considers action against this recommendation to be inadequate. There is evidence to support a reduction in the BAC for novice drivers. Both the Transport Select Committee and the Chief Medical Officer for England support this position. However, the Government has, to date, chosen to retain the current BAC levels for all drivers, and has not accepted the potential benefits to young people (as novice drivers) of a reduction in the BAC levels.

RECOMMENDATION 14

The Government should continue to invest heavily in minimising the number of children and young people in relative poverty and protecting and supporting the most disadvantaged and vulnerable children and young people throughout the UK. Among many benefits, enabling children to have more secure and happier lives may reduce their risk of becoming involved in hazardous and subsequently problematic use of tobacco, alcohol and other drugs. As far as practicable, the impact of these measures should be evaluated.

Action: HM Treasury, Department of Health, DfES (now the DCSF).

4.83 Since publication of *Pathways to Problems* in 2006, there have been welcome and significant legislative measures and policies to improve the welfare and wellbeing of children, young people and families – from the national roll-out of Sure Start Children's Centres in England, Integrated Children's Centres in Wales, to the new 10-year youth strategy *Aiming High for Young People* (HM Treasury/DCSF, 2007).

4.84 The DCSF was one of two new departments created in June 2007 to replace the Department for Education and Skills. The DCSF published a 10-year *Children's Plan* with the stated ambition of making England 'the best place in the world for children and young people to grow up' (DCSF, 2007).

4.85 We welcome the fact that a key focus of the 2008 drug strategy (HM Government, 2008a) is 'Preventing harm to children, young people and families affected by drug misuse'. The strategy commits to a greater focus on effective prevention and earlier intervention, with the DCSF having lead departmental responsibility. Measures in the drug strategy action plan¹⁷ include the establishment of a cross-government working group to 'drive forward work on families and substance misuse', more intensive support for drug-misusing parents, and better access to treatment and a more integrated approach to local prevention activity through the roll-out of Targeted Youth Support.

4.86 The Welsh Assembly Government has used new powers to introduce the proposed Children and Families (Wales) Measure. This legislation will be a key enabler for the Welsh Assembly Government's vision for children and young people, delivering solutions to child poverty and social exclusion among some of the most disadvantaged children and families in Wales. The proposed Measure sets a clear direction for the Welsh Assembly Government's priority in supporting those in society who are particularly vulnerable and most disadvantaged. It specifically addresses the needs of those children in Wales who are living in poverty and in families with multiple problems.

4.87 In *Pathways to Problems*, we highlighted and emphasised the links between poverty/disadvantage and those children and young people most at risk of hazardous drug and alcohol use. We therefore welcome the Government's consultation (2009) on the Child Poverty Bill, which will enshrine in legislation the commitment to eradicate child poverty by 2020. While progress in reducing relative child poverty has been made, the Treasury Select Committee, in its report on the 2009 Budget, concluded that the Government will fail to meet its target of halving child poverty by 2010/11 'by a significant margin' and called on the Government to use the Pre-Budget Report 2009 to set out the measures it will take to meet the target.

4.88 The ACMD recognises the progress that has been made against this recommendation in the policy direction that has been taken, and also acknowledges that it will take considerable time for such changes to have the desired effect. However, we note with concern the Government's anticipated failure to meet its target of halving child poverty by 2010/11, as we are aware of the impact such a failure will have on the most vulnerable children in our society and on the associated risk of substance misuse.

RECOMMENDATION 12

A greater emphasis should be placed on policies aimed at preventing hazardous tobacco, alcohol and other drug use by young people in their late teens and early twenties.

Action: All relevant government departments.

RECOMMENDATION 22

All universities, colleges of further education and other major training institutions should take more responsibility for encouraging and enabling their students or trainees to minimise the hazardous use of tobacco, alcohol and other drugs.

Action: DfES (now the DCSF), devolved administrations.

- 4.89 The DCSF's independent review of drugs education included a call for the guidance on education settings to be broadened to include colleges and youth provision (Advisory Group on Drug and Alcohol Education, 2008). We understand that this is currently being actioned in the preparation of new draft guidance.
- 4.90 The ACMD welcomes the setting up of the new programme for the further education (FE) sector, promoting healthy further education and healthy youth work and enabling the advantages of a health-promoting organisation to be available to young people over the age of 16. The Healthy Schools Programme requires every part of healthy-school sites to be smoke free: this goes beyond current legislation, which covers only enclosed or partly enclosed buildings.

- 4.91 The ACMD welcomes the approach that Northern Ireland is taking in the use of its Public Health Agency and the local drug and alcohol coordination teams to influence the health of students in further education.
- 4.92 In Wales, a specialist sub-group is being established to produce a module on 'substance misuse education for further education and higher education' within the Substance Misuse Treatment Framework. It is anticipated that this will be published in February 2010.
- 4.93 The Scottish Government, in line with evidence that young people start to smoke (or progress from occasional to regular smoking) once they leave school, is looking to work with higher and further educational institutions. They are exploring ways of supporting students and trainees and discouraging them from smoking, as part of a wider programme that looks at substance use and other risk-taking behaviour.
- 4.94 The ACMD commends the progress that has been made in banning smoking in public places (including colleges and universities), and hopes that this will be a disincentive to students to start smoking.
- 4.95 The ACMD welcomes the Government's acceptance of recommendation 12 in its 2008 Cannabis Review *Cannabis: Classification and Public Health* (ACMD, 2008) to amend section 4A of the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971 'to incorporate additional aggravating factors including supply of a controlled drug in the vicinity of any further and higher educational establishments'.
- 4.96 While many FE establishments do make some attempt to limit excessive drinking, leaflets and promotions that encourage drinking are still included in student 'Freshers' Week' packs. The ACMD recommends more proactive government intervention in this area. Consideration should also be given to encouraging universities to withdraw financial support from sports and other clubs and societies that promote irresponsible and excessive drinking (e.g. 'initiation ceremonies' and drinking games).
- 4.97 The ACMD commends the progress that has been made against this recommendation it has been significant in the area of tobacco control, less so in alcohol control. It is important that the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills (BIS) take the lead in

ensuring that further and higher education establishments take action to control the culture of excessive drinking that is prevalent in educational establishments for young people.

RECOMMENDATION 16

The National Treatment Agency should continue to promote and monitor the development of accessible services for young people with serious tobacco, alcohol or other drug-related problems across the country, and take active steps to ensure that these services are coordinated with other initiatives that engage with vulnerable young people.

Action: DH.

4.98 The National Treatment Agency for Substance Misuse (NTA) has pledged to continue to promote and monitor the development of accessible services for young people with serious drug and alcohol-related problems. However, the NTA does not cover tobacco problems. This work is covered by a Memorandum of Understanding between the NTA and the DCSF. This revised Memorandum of Understanding outlines future treatment planning and needs assessments, drug strategy commitments and actions for PSA 14 (HM Government, 2008b).

4.99 We acknowledge that the NTA has been productive on issues of drug misuse by young people. However, we are uncertain what impact this has had on alcohol and tobacco use among young people, especially as these substances are the most commonly used in this age group, very often in addition to illicit substances.

4.100 We do not feel that there is a clear picture of the need for specialist services for young people. This should be based on needs assessment, because young people often have many associated problems besides substance misuse – for example, dysfunctional family relationships, physical illness, mental health problems, homelessness, criminality, poor educational attainment. Therefore, any treatment for addiction has to be part of the broader psychosocial context of the child, family and community, including school.

4.101 Service provision for adolescent substance misusers is geographically patchy, and the components of service models that have been described in some detail is very variable (NTA, 2007). The consensus of opinion is that young people involved in substance misuse should be treated in an integrated fashion, with multiple agencies and professionals working together to provide a holistic, seamless and, most important of all, comprehensive response. Therefore, we recommend a more consistent and comprehensive approach across the regions, from early intervention to intensive specialist treatment.

4.102 When evaluating programmes, we consider it inappropriate to apply adult-specific measures to young people. Age-appropriate measures of improvement or 'success' for young people should always be employed to take account of their different needs.

4.103 The evidence base for treatment interventions among young people is extremely limited in the United Kingdom. Therefore, treatment services, based on a consensus of good practice and a set of minimum standards, need to be established throughout the country. These can act as a base to demonstrate the effectiveness of a range of treatments, as currently there is not enough evaluation (see Recommendation 17).

RECOMMENDATION 17

Following the example of the NTA, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland should also develop a coherent and specifically funded plan for providing and evaluating services for young people with serious tobacco, alcohol or other drug-related problems.

Action: Devolved administrations.

4.104 The 'Good practice guidance for the treatment of substance misuse by youth offending teams in Wales' – a module of the Substance Misuse Treatment Framework – provides a summary, based on the evidence, professional opinion and existing policy statements, of what is best practice in relation to the treatment of substance misuse among children and young people who offend during their involvement with the youth justice system. It is targeted primarily at the

local partnerships that must cooperate in order to provide and commission appropriate services for these individuals, namely:

- youth offending team (YOT) partnerships;
- children and young people's partnerships;
- · community safety partnerships; and
- substance misuse action teams.
- 4.105 The guidance will have particular relevance for substance misuse professionals within YOTs, those that provide substance misuse services outside the YOT, child and adolescent mental health service providers and other organisations that provide specialist services to young people. This module was published for consultation in March 2009, and it is proposed that the final document will be published by March 2010.
- **4.106** The Scottish Government is considering setting separate targets for young people aged 13–15 and for those aged 16–24. A research and evaluation framework will be set up to evaluate this and other elements of the action plan.
- **4.107** We would welcome further evidence from the Government and from the devolved administrations as to how they evaluate services for young people.

RECOMMENDATION 18

In addition to the other measures in A Framework for Volatile Substance Abuse (published in 2005), butane lighter fuels should be made impracticable for abuse and all gas fuel containers should carry a prominent safety warning.

Action: Department of Trade and Industry.

4.108 This recommendation concerned the Department of Health and the Department for Business, Enterprise and Regulatory Reform (BERR)¹⁸ as the responsible government departments. Of concern is that BERR declined to offer responses to the ACMD, as it does not regard this issue as part of its remit – its focus having moved from consumer safety to consumer products. The DCSF has also indicated that it does not intend to do any work in this area.

- **4.109** St George's, University of London publishes an annual report on mortalities from solvent and volatile substance abuse. The figures for 2006 (the last recorded year) identified 49 deaths associated with volatile substance abuse (VSA) four more than in 2005. The total number of VSA deaths in the UK since 1971 now stands at 2,247.
- 4.110 Among under-18s there were five VSA deaths in 2006, compared with eight in 2005 and 13 in 2004. VSA deaths overall continue to be more common among males than females: in 2006, there were three times as many deaths among males as among females (among the under-18s there were no female deaths) (St George's, University of London, 2008).
- **4.111** The ACMD understands that in the financial year 2008/09, the Welsh Assembly Government established a Substance Misuse Treatment Framework (SMTF) specialist sub-group to prepare and present a scoping paper on good practice guidance, intended to reduce the accessibility of volatile substances. VSA remains a concern in Wales, since it still causes more deaths among young people aged 10-16 than do Class A and other illegal drugs (Department of Health et al., 2005). The Welsh substance misuse strategy provides for awareness of the hazards of volatile substances to be raised at both primary and secondary school level within the All Wales School Liaison Core Programme (AWSLCP). The ACMD has been informed that, in an effort to reduce further the availability and accessibility of volatile substances in Wales, local good practice will be identified in terms of engaging communities in the job of tackling VSA and in the enforcement action being taken among those retailers that are linked to VSA incidents.
- 4.112 The ACMD has particular concern about the use of 'poppers' (the street name given to various alkyl nitrites taken for recreational purposes through direct inhalation) and nitrous oxide. The ACMD is particularly concerned about the prevalence of the use of 'poppers' among young people. Data from the British Crime Survey show that in 2005/06 3.9% of 16–24-year-olds reported the use of amyl nitrite. The National Centre for Social Research reported in 2007 that 'poppers' were the third most commonly used type of drug among 11–15-year-olds in England. Data from The Scottish Schools Adolescent Lifestyle and Substance Use Survey

(2006) reported that 8% of 15-year-olds reported having ever taken 'poppers'. Of concern is that 'poppers' are not controlled under the Misuse of Drugs Act 1971, nor are they controlled under other legislation. The ACMD has written to the Department for Business, Innovation and Skills highlighting its concerns and asking if there are plans to extend the relevant legislation (Cosmetic Products (Safety) Regulations 2008) for their control. Also of concern is the prevalence of use of nitrous oxide (laughing gas), which the ACMD understand is increasing. A report of substance abuse deaths in 2006 showed that five deaths were attributable to the use of nitrous oxide (Field-Smith *et al.*, 2008).

4.113 Though the Department of Health did set up a VSA Stakeholder Group, it soon lapsed, and has had no outcomes or impact, despite the fact that there were useful meetings with a range of stakeholders from industry, as well as from substance misuse agencies.

4.114 Neither the *Framework for VSA* (Department of Health *et al.*, 2005) nor *Pathways to Problems* appears to have had much success in persuading the Government to take action to tackle the area of substance misuse linked to butane gas and other volatile substances.

4.115 The ACMD believes that the availability of volatile substances to young people, the unnecessarily large size of some butane gas containers and the inappropriate packaging – together with a lack of meaningful warnings on the dangers – all indicate that this area of harm to young people is being inadequately addressed by government departments. The ACMD recommends more specific action in this area within the context of the 10-year drug strategy, with action focused on the issues noted above.

4.116 Schools are increasingly being viewed as a pivotal centre for the delivery of support to children, young people and their families, and this is to be welcomed. At the same time, we acknowledge the need to ensure that those most excluded from our society are not also excluded from the same level of support and education about the hazards of drug, tobacco and alcohol use – especially when used in combination.

RECOMMENDATION 19

In the light of the evidence that classroombased drugs education has very limited effectiveness in reducing rates of drug use, there should be a careful reassessment of the role of schools in drug misuse prevention. The emphasis should be on providing all pupils with accurate, credible and consistent information about the hazards of tobacco, alcohol and other drugs – including volatile substances.

Action: DfES (now the DCSF), devolved administrations.

RECOMMENDATION 20

All schools should seek to maintain a supportive environment for all their pupils, while recognising and responding to the needs of those whose behavioural problems or family background may put them at particular risk of hazardous drug use.

Action: DfES (now the DCSF), devolved administrations.

4.117 The ACMD welcomes the introduction of the Targeted Mental Health in Schools programme (DCSF, 2008a). The programme focuses on children aged 5–13 with behavioural, emotional and social problems. It takes a preventative approach to identifying children with difficulties as soon as possible, and provides an opportunity to reduce their risk of hazardous drug use.

4.118 In the original *Pathways to Problems* report, we endorsed the aims of the Healthy Schools Programme¹⁹ (a joint DH/DCSF initiative) and we welcome the continuing developments under this programme: the new Personal, Social and Health Education (PSHE) guidance, published in 2008, includes advice on how schools can improve the drugs education and referral procedures that are in place.

4.119 We also welcome the development of the Healthy Further Education programme, with its explicit focus on the FE contribution to addressing areas outlined in the Chief Medical Officer's reports: alcohol and drugs, tobacco and exposure to injury and accidents.^{20,21}

4.120 The ACMD recommends that the Healthy Schools/Healthy FE and Healthy Youth Work approach should be broadened out to include services for children and young people in the youth justice system, where high proportions of children report regular substance misuse.

4.121 The ACMD welcomes the proposal to make PSHE education statutory, as part of the National Curriculum, in both primary and secondary schools.

4.122 The ACMD remains concerned about the quality of drugs education received by excluded children, and believes those children should be made a priority. Of particular concern is the varying level of drugs education in pupil referral units.

4.123 The ACMD endorses the recommendations of the review of drug and alcohol education (Advisory Group on Drug and Alcohol Education, 2008), which examined the available evidence on the effectiveness of information and education from all the sources available to young people, including parents, schools, colleges, the non-formal sector, the wider media and government. All the recommendations were accepted by the Government (DCSF, 2008b). The recommendations are to undertake actions to achieve the following:

- Increase parents' and carers' knowledge and skills about drug and alcohol education and prevention, enabling them to better inform and protect their children.
- Improve the quality of drug and alcohol education by making PSHE a statutory subject – to enable schools and colleges to promote well-being effectively – and improve the quality of training for PSHE teachers.
- Improve identification and support for young people vulnerable to drug misuse in schools, colleges and non-formal settings.

4.124 Progress is being made in Northern Ireland, where the DHSSPS is working with the Department of Education on the development of a holistic healthy schools policy that will seek to promote and encourage good physical and mental health for pupils and staff.

4.125 In Wales, a national Substance Misuse Education Steering Group has been established, consisting of Welsh Assembly Government officials from relevant policy areas and external stakeholders. The aim of the group is to monitor the delivery of the components relating to substance misuse education in the new substance misuse 10-year strategy for Wales – *Working Together to Reduce Harm* (Welsh Assembly Government, 2008). The steering group will also provide advice and recommendations to the Substance Misuse Implementation Board on matters pertaining to the provision and delivery of consistent substance misuse education for children and young people up to the age of 25 years.

4.126 Also in Wales, at the local and regional levels, partners must ensure that local substance misuse action plans and the related elements of the Children and Young People's Plan take full account of the needs of school and youth service-based provision and link effectively with the core programme and the Welsh Network of Healthy School Schemes.

4.127 The results of the ASSIST programme – the peer-based tobacco prevention programme mentioned in our original report – have now been published in the *Lancet*,²² and the programme is now being rolled out across Wales via the National Public Health Service, with Welsh Assembly Government funding.

4.128 The roll-out of a Welsh national strategy for school-based counselling services should provide a greater level of personal support for children and young people who wish to discuss their problems with an independent adviser. It is expected that many of those who access the services will have substance misuse problems, and the counselling strategy establishes the need for counsellors to have had training in these aspects

²⁰ www.excellencegateway.org.uk/hfep

²¹ See the Chief Medical Officer's report at: www.dh.gov.uk/en/Aboutus/MinistersandDepartmentLeaders/ChiefMedicalOfficer/CMOPublications/index.htm

²² www.thelancet.com/journals/lancet/article/PIIS0140673608606923/abstract

4.129 The All Wales School Liaison Core Programme (AWSLCP) is a programme that aims to reduce crime and disorder through addressing drugs and substance misuse education, safety and social behaviour and has been very well evaluated by professionals, communities and young people. It is now being externally evaluated, and the report is due in December 2010.

4.130 In Scotland, there has been a reassessment of the role of schools in preventing drug misuse. A steering group that focuses on substance misuse education in schools was set up in November 2007 to look at approaches to supporting local authorities in the delivery of effective substance misuse education in schools. It aims to boost knowledge, skills and confidence about drugs and drug cultures for all those who deliver health education in schools, and to ensure access to suitable and age-appropriate resources.

4.131 In Northern Ireland, the DHSSPS and the Department of Education have met to consider how substance misuse education should be delivered, and what role schools and teachers should have in that process. Principles of good practice in alcohol and drugs education are currently being developed for widespread dissemination.

4.132 It is evident from the activity outlined above, as well as from our consultation with young people, that schools are seen as having a key role. Specifically, schools have a role both in the identification of vulnerable children, and as providers of services, education, information and support. The ACMD commends the significant progress that has been made in this regard across England and the devolved administrations.

4.133 In the area of drugs education, the ACMD has concerns that, despite the commendable level of activity, there is a lack of independent evaluation to assess what works.

RECOMMENDATION 21

Drug testing and sniffer dogs should not be used in schools. We consider that the complex ethical, technical and organisational issues, the potential impact on the school– pupil relationship and the costs would not be offset by the potential gains.

Action: DfES (now the DCSF), devolved administrations.

4.134 In 2006, the DCSF said that it would consider setting up a pilot to evaluate the effectiveness of voluntary drug-testing in secondary schools. These pilots were not rolled out owing to a lack of uptake.

4.135 We understand that the DCSF has no intention of pursuing a national pilot. However, it has delegated authority to head teachers to decide on their own testing programmes and on the use of sniffer dogs in schools. The DCSF has advised that, before a school decides to introduce drug-testing, it considers very carefully all the factors outlined in the guidance *Drugs: Guidance for schools* (DfES, 2004), including whether such action will result in appropriate support for those pupils most in need.

4.136 There is currently no policy in Wales regarding sniffer dogs and drug-testing in schools.

4.137 As we have previously stated, the ACMD welcomes the discouragement of the use of sniffer dogs and drug-testing in schools – an approach which we believe to be inherently flawed.

RECOMMENDATION 24

Any future major drug prevention initiatives should be designed with evaluation in mind from the outset. They should be evaluated using scientifically rigorous methods, employing randomised controlled trials where possible. This should ensure that any conclusions on the effectiveness of the initiatives can be accepted with confidence, both in the UK and elsewhere.

Action: Home Office, DH, DfES (now the DCSF), devolved administrations.

4.138 Under this recommendation, the National Collaborating Centre for Drug Prevention at Liverpool John Moores University is undertaking work on behalf of the Department of Health and the DCSF.

4.139 The DCSF is developing an evaluation tool, through the High Focus Area initiative, to use when setting up and evaluating drug prevention projects. The intention is that all future prevention initiatives should be designed to employ scientific methods, wherever possible, and that evaluation should be built in from the outset.

4.140 Scotland and Northern Ireland use evaluation activities to develop current policy – for example, gathering feedback from teachers and pupils on implementation of the Choices for Life initiative in 2008 and using the Scottish Schools Adolescent Lifestyle and Substance Use Survey (SALSUS) (Scottish Executive, 2007) to evaluate the impact of some aspects of policy. Northern Ireland has developed an Impact Measurement Tool, which enables the impact of funded projects and initiatives to be measured. This is currently being revised.

4.141 The ACMD reiterates the need for all future major drug prevention initiatives to be designed with evaluation in mind from the outset.

RECOMMENDATION 15

The ongoing debate about how best to bring up children should be informed by the evidence that good parenting and stable family life can reduce the risks of hazardous tobacco, alcohol and other drug use by young people.

Action: The media and government.23

4.142 Both before and since our original report, there has been a great deal of public debate recognising the important role that the family has to play in substance misuse prevention. We are pleased that this theme is strongly represented in the new national drug strategy *Drugs: Protecting families and communities* (HM Government, 2008a) and the strategies of the devolved administrations.

4.143 The 2008 drug strategy commits to a 'new package for families', with measures to support and strengthen families, including 'intensive and integrated support for families at risk, to improve parenting skills, reduce risk factors for children, support families to stay together and break the cycle of problems being transferred between generations' (p24). We welcome the commitment to provide more support to kin carers, such as grandparents.

4.144 We note key actions in support of PSA 14 (Increase the number of children and young people on the path to success) (HM Government, 2008b) by the Department of Health. The actions include providing prompt access to treatment for all drug-misusing parents with a treatment need and delivering a package of interventions for families at risk (i.e. improving parenting skills and providing support for kin carers and for parents with substance misuse problems, so that children do not fall into caring roles).

4.145 We particularly welcome the Think Family approach that was developed by the Cabinet Office's Social Exclusion Task Force, and the resources announced in the Children's Plan to implement the £16 million Family Pathfinder programme (Cabinet Office, 2008). Think Family aims to ensure that the services for adults and children join up to respond to the needs of whole families, and extends the logic of cooperation behind Every Child Matters to adult services, so that all services share responsibility for family outcomes, encouraging and empowering frontline staff to innovate and cooperate in response to whole-family situations.

4.146 In Northern Ireland, in the new young people's drinking action plan, specific consideration has been given to how best to support parents and families in addressing young people's drinking, and thus in reducing risks.

4.147 The ACMD welcomes the advice issued to parents by England's Chief Medical Officer in January 2009: 'Children aged under 15 should never be given alcohol, even in small quantities' and 'childhood should be an "alcohol-free time".'24

^{23 &#}x27;Government' has now been explicitly included in this recommendation (although it was not in the first Pathways to Problems report).

²⁴ See the draft guidance on the consumption of alcohol by children and young people from the Chief Medical Officers of England, Wales and Northern Ireland available at: www.dcsf.gov.uk/consultations/downloadableDocs/CMO%20Guidance.pdf

4.148 In Wales, there has been a national roll-out of the Strengthening Families Programme. This is designed for a general population of parents, and children aged 10–14. The programme is based on a resiliency model and empirical findings on youth and family risk and protective factors. The programme is consistent with advice that family interventions should not deal with drugs in isolation.

4.149 The ACMD understands that the Welsh Assembly Government has used its new devolved legislative powers to strengthen support for vulnerable children and for families with complex needs. The introduction of statutory Integrated Family Support Teams (IFSTs) in each area will bring together social workers, family workers, substance misuse professionals, nurses and health visitors. They will work directly with families to protect and support vulnerable children, There will be greater emphasis on early identification of families with problems and of those parents who are unable to carry out their parenting roles, so that alternative care arrangements can be made. These new teams will also provide supervised training and development for NHS and local authority staff to improve engagement with families and delivery of needsbased interventions. Initially IFSTs will be implemented in three pioneer areas (from 2010). They will be accessible to families with a history of substance misuse and where a child is in need or at risk.

4.150 In Scotland, in May 2008, parents, carers and other family members across the country were sent a booklet entitled *Drugs: What Every Parent Should Know.*The booklet contained factual information about drugs and the consequences of their use, as well as some suggestions on how to talk to young people about sensitive issues. Furthermore, *Scotland's Future is Smoke-free: A smoking prevention action plan* (Scottish Government, 2008b) proposed a multi-faceted campaign targeted at parents to raise awareness of the impact of tobacco on their children's health. This is to be mounted under the auspices of the Health Improvement Social Marketing Strategy. The evidence shows that teenagers are more likely to smoke if their parents or siblings do, and if they have low levels of parental supervision.

4.151 The ACMD welcomes and commends the significant progress that is being made against this recommendation. It is evident from this progress that the impact of parenting on reducing the risk that children and young people will engage in high-risk behaviour is being taken seriously. The policy changes that have occurred reflect the importance of the family and provide an opportunity for adult-focused services. Adult services can then take some responsibility for looking at issues that may have an impact on the ability of parents/carers to parent effectively.

RECOMMENDATION 23

The media, particularly television and radio, should be used more extensively and imaginatively than at present to inform young people of the real hazards of using tobacco, alcohol and other drugs.

Action: DH, Home Office, DCMS, devolved administrations.

4.152 The DCSF and the Home Office have continued to develop the FRANK campaign and have developed Know Your Limits²⁵ – an alcohol social marketing campaign for young people. The Department of Health is using such campaigns to pass on messages about alcohol and drug hazards. Audience-insight research is being used to inform the future development of these programmes.

4.153 Northern Ireland has advised the ACMD that it will continue to work with the Public Health Agency and other organisations to provide education and information to young people through a range of different media.

4.154 In Scotland, tobacco and alcohol issues will be addressed as part of the 'Youth Brand' dimension of the Scottish Government's Health Improvement Social Marketing Strategy. It is intended that this will complement ongoing work on drug misuse.

4.155 This recommendation advocates use of the media in spreading the health-promotion message to young people about the real hazards of using tobacco, alcohol and other drugs. There are various media that young people regularly use that can be employed much

more effectively to reinforce the message about the hazards of these substances. The ACMD commends the recent campaigns by the Drinkaware Trust, many of which have a specific focus on children and young people.

4.156 The ACMD feels that significantly more could be done to address this valuable recommendation, which has so much potential to reach young people.



The role and contribution of other stakeholders

ACMD PATHWAYS TO PROBLEMS CONFERENCE

- 5.1 On Monday, 2 June 2008, the ACMD held a conference on issues raised in *Pathways to Problems*. The day provided an opportunity for government departments, other national and local organisations and practitioners to discuss how the recommendations contained in *Pathways to Problems* had been taken forward, and to assess their impact. It also afforded delegates an opportunity to share good practice and develop networking opportunities.
- 5.2 Delegates included representatives from local and regional drug action teams, county councils, the Children's Society, DrugScope, the Scottish Crime and Drug Enforcement Agency and Transform.
- **5.3** Pathways to Problems Working Group members facilitated workshops on the following key themes that covered the recommendations in *Pathways to Problems*:
- supporting at-risk children and young people (early interventions);
- giving young people accurate and credible information on harm (helping young people to make the right choices);
- reducing availability and attractiveness; and
- young people with drug problems how are we helping them?
- **5.4** Presentations were delivered by:
- Drug Education Forum
- Professor Ian Gilmore President of the Royal College of Physicians
- Department for Children, Schools and Families
- Home Office Blueprint programme
- National Treatment Agency for Substance Misuse (NTA).
- 5.5 The feedback from the conference and input from those who attended the workshops has helped inform this report.

FEEDBACK FROM YOUNG PEOPLE

- **5.6** Mentor UK facilitated two meetings with groups of young people to obtain feedback regarding the recommendations and issues that had emerged from the first report. Meetings were held with young people in South West Wales and Staffordshire. Their ages ranged from 14 to 17.
- 5.7 The young people were asked to talk about their experiences of tobacco, alcohol and other drugs. Experiences and knowledge were mixed. Anecdotal information gathered further supported many of the findings in the first *Pathways to Problems* report. There was also anecdotal evidence about health and behavioural harms from solvent misuse.
- 5.8 The groups were asked about influences and decision making surrounding tobacco, alcohol and other substances. They were clear that they wanted information on the facts so that they could make their own decisions. They did not want to be told or 'lectured' on what to do. It is important to note that the young people did not believe that they required support to abstain, as this 'switched them off'.
- 5.9 Young people in the groups thought it would help if their parents were knowledgeable about drugs and alcohol, so that they could really discuss these together.
- 5.10 The tripartite classification system for illicit drugs was not noted as a driver of young people's behaviour.
- **5.11** It was apparent from the feedback that there are many and varied influences on young people's decision making around tobacco, alcohol and drugs.



conclusions and suggested actions to build on progress

OVERALL

- 6.1 This report focuses on the progress that has been made since the original *Pathways to Problems* report was published in 2006. It is evident that there has been significant progress across policy development, and that this recognises the public health concerns surrounding young people's substance misuse. We commend the progress that the Government has made in reflecting the recommendations of *Pathways to Problems* in the policy that has subsequently been developed.
- 6.2 Those areas of notable improvement include recognition of the role of parents and of schools, and the increased importance being put on early identification and intervention of children at risk of hazardous behaviour.
- 6.3 We are also encouraged by the progress that has been made in the implementation of legislation covering tobacco control and by the impact this will have on children who start to smoke and are exposed to smoke.
- 6.4 There has also been a strong commitment to the use of research to develop the evidence base for the delivery of the drugs strategies.
- 6.5 There has been an obvious attempt to promote more integrated approaches at all levels nationally, across government and with the voluntary sector, as well as at regional and local levels. This integrated approach will ensure that resources are used to better effect and will address the problem of policy conflict.

TOBACCO AND ALCOHOL

- **6.6** Significant efforts have been made via a number of public information campaigns to raise public awareness of the risks of alcohol and tobacco.
- 6.7 However, the ACMD does still have concerns about the progress that has been made against some of the recommendations, particularly those that relate to young people's exposure to, and use of, alcohol.
- 6.8 There has been a noticeable increase in the reporting of alcohol-related illness, injury and crime. It is especially the increase in alcohol-related concerns that is reflected in the further recommendations we make below, which are in addition to the previous ones cited in *Pathways to Problems*.

- 6.9 The ACMD was disappointed that there was no consultation and no opportunity to contribute to the Government's overall alcohol strategy *Safe. Sensible. Social.* (HM Government, 2007a). However, the recent consultations regarding drinking and driving (DfT, 2008a), elements of the alcohol strategy regarding licensing, and those regarding young people and alcohol guidance are all welcome.
- 6.10 The ACMD believes that there should be an opportunity for legislation to change as it has in other European countries around the acceptable quantity of alcohol that a young person can drink when driving. The ACMD again recommends that the Government should consider reducing the legal blood alcohol concentration (BAC) for drivers under the age of 25. The original report suggested a limit of 50mg per 100ml, but in light of the statistics for accidents among the younger age groups and the views of the Government in June 2007, the ACMD strongly recommends that the Government should consider reducing the legal BAC to 50mg per 100ml or less for drivers under the age of 25. Lowering the BAC would bring the UK more into line with other European countries.
- **6.11** The ACMD recommends the use of standard measures when alcohol is served, so that all servings represent the same alcoholic intake. The measures of alcohol should be simplified and clarified, in order to make it easier to inform the public about safer consumption of alcohol; individuals can then decide for themselves if they want to double or triple that serving. This is particularly relevant to drinks (such as wine) that are being served in increasingly large measures. Nowadays, even a 'small' glass of wine constitutes a large quantity of alcohol, and this encourages ever greater quantities of alcohol to be consumed. While this may not be an area of priority when addressing the consumption of alcohol by children and young people, it is relevant to public awareness and does have an influence on the drinking culture that is evident in the UK.
- **6.12** While we welcome increases in the alcohol excise duty, we are concerned at the way the larger commercial outlets are able to offset any price rise using discounted offers.

- 6.13 The ACMD reiterates its concern over the rise in average alcohol content raised in its consultation response to *Safe. Sensible. Social.*²⁶ Given that reducing alcohol content would be a simple approach to reducing intoxication, we recommend that beer and lagers should be taxed according to alcoholic strength.
- 6.14 The ACMD recommends that the Department of Health explore policy options for implementing an alcohol duty levy to fund the promotion of health awareness, taking particular note of the international progress that has been made in this area.
- 6.15 The ACMD recommends more proactive government intervention to discourage the promotional activities that encourage a culture of excessive drinking in higher and FE establishments. Consideration should be given to banning 'initiation ceremonies' and drinking games.
- 6.16 The ACMD recommends that the Government implement policies that promote 'less risky drinking', with restricted opportunities for advertising alcohol, and that it should also implement Alcohol Concern's recommendations relating to advertisements that promote alcohol.
- 6.17 While the Government seeks the views of relevant stakeholders on matters relating to alcohol and tobacco, there is no equivalent independent expert body to undertake a role similar to that of the ACMD in advising the Government. Despite the response received from the Home Office in answer to its question (see paragraph 4.2), the ACMD is not routinely consulted on matters relating to alcohol and tobacco, nor does it have the necessary resources or expertise to undertake the same role it does for illicit drugs.
- **6.18** The ACMD will draft a paper outlining the possible options for formal independent advisory structures covering alcohol and tobacco.
- 6.19 We acknowledge that the National Treatment Agency (NTA) has been extremely active in the area of drug misuse by young people; yet we are uncertain what impact this has had on alcohol and tobacco. We do not feel that there is a clear picture of the need for services for young people. While the NTA does some work that specifically targets young people, we would like to see a

more consistent and comprehensive approach across the regions in relation to early intervention and treatment. This should be based on needs assessments. We recommend that it is not appropriate to use the same 'success' measures for young people as for adults. Any outcome measures should take account of the different needs of young people.

VOLATILE SUBSTANCE ABUSE

6.20 The ACMD recommends more specific action in this area, within the context of the 10-year drug strategy. There should be particular focus on the sizing, packaging and marketing of volatile substances and on their availability to young people.

SUBSTANCE MISUSE AND PREVENTION

- **6.21** The ACMD recommends that the Healthy Schools/Healthy FE and Healthy Youth Work approach should be broadened out to include services for children and young people in the youth justice system, where high proportions of children report regular substance misuse.
- 6.22 We recommend that the DCSF accept the offer made by the charity Re-Solv and the British Aerosol Manufacturers' Association to help in the development of a survey of schoolchildren's drug usage, including volatile substance abuse (VSA).
- **6.23** The ACMD recommends that the NTA's performance should be measured through the evaluation of outcomes rather than through the monitoring of outputs.
- 6.24 The ACMD recommends that NTA performance measures should be specifically designed for young people, instead of adapting or using measures designed for adults, since all outcome measures should take account of the different needs of young people.
- **6.25** The ACMD reiterates the following recommendation, against which very little seems to have been done: the media, particularly television and radio, should be used more extensively and imaginatively than at present to inform young people of the real hazards of using tobacco, alcohol and other drugs.

References

Advertising Standards Authority (ASA) (2009) Addendum to the Consultations on the CAP and BCAP Advertising Codes. Available at: www. asa.org.uk/cap/news_events/news/2009/ Addendum+to+Code+Review.htm

Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs (ACMD) (2006) Pathways to Problems: Hazardous use of tobacco, alcohol and other drugs by young people in the UK and its implications for policy. Available at: http://drugs.homeoffice.gov.uk/publication-search/acmd/pathways-to-problems/Pathwaystoproblems.pdf

Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs (ACMD) (2007) *Hidden Harm Three Years On: Realities, challenges and opportunities.* Available at: http://drugs.homeoffice.gov.uk/publication-search/acmd/HiddenHarm1.pdf

Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs (ACMD) (2008) *Cannabis: Classification and public health*. Available at: http://drugs.homeoffice.gov.uk/publication-search/acmd/acmd-cannabis-report-2008

Advisory Group on Drug and Alcohol Education (2008) *Drug Education: An entitlement for All.* Available at: www.teachernet.gov.uk/_doc/13032/ACFE3AC.pdf

Cabinet Office (2008) Press release on Think Family approach. Available at: www.cabinetoffice.gov.uk/social_exclusion_task_force/news/2008/080110_families.aspx

Department for Children, Schools and Families (DCSF) (2007) *The Children's Plan: Building brighter futures.* Cm 7280. Available at: www.dcsf.gov.uk/childrensplan/downloads/The_Childrens_Plan.pdf

Department for Children, Schools and Families (DCSF) (2008a) Targeted Mental Health in Schools programme. Available at: www.dcsf. gov.uk/everychildmatters/healthandwellbeing/mentalhealthissues/tmhsproject/tmhs/

Department for Children, Schools and Families (DCSF) (2008b) Government Response to the Report by the Advisory Group on Drug and Alcohol Education. Available at: www.drugeducationforum.com/images/dynamicImages/file/6814_740220.pdf

Department for Children, Schools and Families, Home Office and Department of Health (2008) *Youth Alcohol Action Plan.* Available at: http://publications.dcsf.gov.uk/default.aspx?PageFunction=productdetails&PageMode=publications&ProductId=Cm%25207387

Department for Education and Skills (DfES) (2004) Drugs: Guidance for schools. Available at: http://publications.teachernet.gov.uk/default.aspx?PageFunction=productdetails&PageMode=publications&ProductId=DfES+0092+2004&

Department for Transport (DfT) (2008a) *Road Safety Compliance Consultation*. Available at: www. dft.gov.uk/consultations/closed/compliance/roadsafetyconsultation.pdf

Department for Transport (DfT) (2008b) *Road Casualties Great Britain: 2007.* Available at: www.dft.gov. uk/pgr/statistics/datatablespublications/accidents/casualtiesgbar/roadcasualtiesgreatbritain20071

Department of Health, Home Office, DfES (2005) 'Out of Sight? ... not out of mind': children, Young People and Volatile Substance Abuse (VSA) – a framework for VSA. Available at: www.library.nhs.uk/CHILDHEALTH/ViewResource.aspx?resID=98726

Department of Health (2008a) Consultation on the Future of Tobacco Control. Consultation Report: December 2008. Available at: www.dh.gov.uk/en/Consultations/Responsestoconsultations/DH_091382

Department of Health/School of Health and Related Research at the University of Sheffield (ScHARR) (2008b) *Independent Review of the Effects of Alcohol Pricing and Promotion*. Available at: www.dh.gov.uk/en/Publichealth/Healthimprovement/Alcoholmisuse/DH_4001740

Department of Health, Social Services and Public Safety (DHSSPS) – Northern Ireland (2006) *New Strategic Direction for Alcohol and Drugs (2006–2011)*. Available at: www.dhsspsni.gov.uk/new_strategic_direction_for_alcohol_and_drugs_(2006-2011).pdf

Donaldson L (2008) On the State of Public Health: Annual Report of the Chief Medical Officer 2007. Department of Health. Available at: www.dh.gov. uk/en/Publicationsandstatistics/Publications/ AnnualReports/DH_086176

DrugScope (2008) *Street Drug Trends 2008*. DrugScope. Available at: www.drugscope.org.uk/ourwork/pressoffice/pressreleases/Street-drug-trends-08.htm

European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction (EMCDDA) (2007) *Drug Use and Related Problems Among very Young People (under 15 years old)*. Luxembourg: Office for Official Publications of the European Union.

Every Child Matters website: www.dcsf.gov.uk/everychildmatters/

Field-Smith ME, Butland BK, Ramsey JD, Anderson HR (2008) *Trends in Death Associated with Abuse of Volatile Substances 1971–2006.* Report 21. St George's University of London. Available at: http://www.vsareport.org/

Foreign and Commonwealth Office website – Travel Advice by Country: www.fco.gov.uk/en/travelling-and-living-overseas/travel-advice-by-country/

FRANK website: www.talktofrank.com/

Healthy Colleges website: www.healthyschools.gov.uk/ Beyond-Further-Education.aspx

Healthy Schools website: www.healthyschools.gov.uk/ Default.aspx

HM Government (2007a) Safe. Sensible. Social. The next steps in the National Alcohol Strategy. Available at: www. homeoffice.gov.uk/documents/alcohol-strategy-2007?view=Binary

HM Government (2007b) *PSA Delivery Agreement 25:* Reduce the harm caused by alcohol and drugs. Available at: www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/d/pbr_csr07_psa25.pdf

HM Government (2008a) *Drugs: Protecting families and communities. The 2008 drug strategy*. Available at: http://drugs.homeoffice.gov.uk/publication-search/drug-strategy/drug-strategy-2008?view=Binary

HM Government (2008b) *PSA Delivery Agreement 14: Increase the number of children and young people on the path to success.* Available at: www.hm-treasury.gov.uk/d/pbr_csr07_psa14.pdf

HM Government (2008c) Youth Crime Action Plan. Available at: www.homeoffice.gov.uk/documents/youth-crime-action-plan/

HM Treasury/DCSF (2007) Aiming High for Young People: a ten year strategy for positive activities. Available at: http://publications.dcsf.gov.uk/eOrderingDownload/PU214.pdf

Home Office (2008) *Crime in England and Wales* 2007/08 – Findings from the British Crime Survey and police recorded crime. Available at: www.homeoffice.gov.uk/rds/pdfs08/hosb0708.pdf

House of Commons Transport Committee (2007) *Novice Drivers: Seventh Report of Session 2006–07.* Volume I. Available at: www.publications.parliament.uk/pa/cm200607/cmselect/cmtran/355/355i.pdf

Kypri K, Voas RB, Langley JD, Stephenson SCR, Begg DJ, Tippetts AS and Davie GS (2006) Minimum Purchasing Age for Alcohol and Traffic Crash Injuries Among 15- to 19-Year-Olds in New Zealand. *American Journal of Public Health* 96(1): 126–131.

National Centre for Social Research (NatCen) (2008) (in collaboration with the National Foundation for Educational Research) *Drug Use, Smoking and Drinking among Young People in England in 2007*. Fuller E (ed.). Available at: www.ic.nhs.uk/webfiles/publications/sdd07/SDD%20Main%20report%2007%20%20%2808%29-Standard.pdf

National Treatment Agency for Substance Misuse (NTA) (2007) Young People's Specialist Substance Misuse Treatment: The role of CAMHS and addiction psychiatry in adolescent misuse services. Available at: www.nta.nhs.uk/areas/young_people/Docs/yp_camhs280508.pdf

Ofcom/ASA (2007) Young People and Alcohol Advertising: An investigation of alcohol advertising following changes to the Advertising Code. Available at: www.asa.org.uk/NR/rdonlyres/D311E8A2-C7CD-44B5-BECD-D87BC3812F04/0/Youngpeoplealcoholadvertising_20071116.pdf

Office for National Statistics (2008) *United Kingdom Health Statistics* No. 3. Palgrave Macmillan.

Ofsted (2007) *TellUs2: Children and young people survey*. Available at: www.ofsted.gov.uk/Ofsted-home/Publications-and-research/Browse-all-by/Documents-by-type/Statistics/TellUs2-children-and-young-people-survey

St George's University of London (2008) Trends in Death Associated with Abuse of Volatile Substances 1971–2006. Available at: www.vsareport.org/

Scottish Executive (2007) Scottish Schools Adolescent Lifestyle and Substance Use Survey (SALSUS) National Report. Smoking, drinking and drug use among 13 and 15 year olds in Scotland in 2006. Available at: www.drugmisuse. isdscotland.org/publications/local/SALSUS_2006.pdf

Scottish Government (2008a) *The Road to Recovery*- A New Approach to Tackling Scotland's Drug Problem.
Available at: www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/
Doc/224480/0060586.pdf

Scottish Government (2008b) *Scotland's Future is Smoke-free: A smoking prevention action plan.* Available at: www.scotland.gov.uk/Resource/Doc/223415/0060163.pdf

Voas RB, Tippetts AS and Fell JC (2003) Assessing the effectiveness of minimum legal drinking age and zero tolerance laws in the United States. *Accident Analysis and Prevention* 35: 579–587.

Welsh Assembly Government (2004) *Children and Young People: Rights to action.* Available at: http://wales.gov.uk/dhss/publications/children/childrenfirst/610927/rights-to-action-e.pdf;jsessionid=W0bHKCBG3dJ3cbYvdmy2rv1xHW96k7vQXvJc1WPtLxljbDRkw8xf!514291769?lang=en

Welsh Assembly Government (2007) The National Evaluation of the All Wales School Liaison Core Programme – The Impact of the All Wales School Liaison Core Programme on Children and Young People. Final Report. Available at: http://wales.gov.uk/dsjlg/research/schoolliaison/reporte.pdf?lang=en

Welsh Assembly Government (2008) Working Together to Reduce Harm – The Substance Misuse Strategy for Wales 2008–2018. Available at: www.adjudicationpanelwales. com/dsjlg/publications/commmunitysafety/strategy/strategye.pdf;jsessionid=yS1pKmRKlvLrTz7W2yf3rX HH4M2h5RjYPThhNlQ98B142BCy9FhP!918342478? lang=en&ts=3



Annex 1: Pathways to Problems – full recommendations

Recommendation 1

As their actions are similar and their harmfulness to individuals and society is no less than that of other psychoactive drugs, tobacco and alcohol should be explicitly included within the terms of reference of the Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs.

Action: Home Office.

Recommendation 2

The Government should ensure that young people are repeatedly made aware of the real hazards of using tobacco, alcohol and other drugs. This should be done in ways that are accurate, credible and consistent, using a variety of routes including the media, the school system and further and higher education. In particular, we endorse the decision taken by the Government in January 2006 to conduct an education campaign to communicate the risks of cannabis use for mental and physical health.

Action: Department for Education and Skills (DfES), Department of Health (DH), Home Office, devolved administrations.

Recommendation 3

Periodic, large-scale surveys of representative samples of 11–15-year-olds should continue, with coverage across the whole of the UK, using the same definitions and questions regarding tobacco, alcohol and other drug use, including volatile substances. To quantify the number of young people of this age who frequently use drugs other than tobacco or alcohol, such surveys should include questions about their weekly and more frequent use.

Action: DH, DfES (now the DCSF), Home Office, devolved administrations.

Recommendation 4

In order to obtain information about the extent to which 16–30-year-olds are combining the use of tobacco and alcohol with illegal drugs, the Health Survey of England and its equivalents in Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland should include a small number of identical questions about the use of drugs other than tobacco and alcohol, including volatile substances.

Action: DH, devolved administrations.

Recommendation 5

A longitudinal follow-up lifestyle study of a representative sample of 16–30-year-olds should be commissioned to enable drug use to be seen in the wider context of their lives.

Action: DH.

Recommendation 6

It should become an offence to sell tobacco products to anyone under the age of 18 (raised from the present age of 16), and this new limit should be strictly enforced. The impact of this change should be carefully evaluated. (See also Recommendation 9.)

Action: DH, devolved administrations.

Recommendation 7

Given the strong evidence that increasing the price of alcohol reduces consumption overall and may have a disproportionately large effect on consumption by young people, the Government should seriously consider progressively raising the excise duty on alcohol.

Action: HM Treasury.

Recommendation 8

Given the continuing rise in the prevalence of alcohol-related health problems and the high levels of drinking among young people, we recommend that a much stricter code for alcohol advertising (including via the internet) and sponsorship should be established. This would include prohibiting alcohol advertising on TV or in cinemas showing films to under-18s and prohibiting sponsorship by alcohol companies of sports or music events attended or watched by under-18s.

Action: Department for Culture, Media and Sport (DCMS).

Recommendation 9

Given the unequivocal evidence that many under-18s buy alcohol and many under-16s buy tobacco, the age-of-purchase laws for tobacco and alcohol should, in future, be much more strictly applied. Vendors should be encouraged to require proof of age and compliance should be reinforced through the use of underage test-purchasing and the prosecution of offenders.

Action: DH, Department of Trade and Industry, devolved administrations.

Recommendation 10

The current arrangements to control the supply of drugs covered by the Misuse of Drugs Act (1971) should be reviewed to determine whether any further cost-effective and politically acceptable measures can be taken to reduce the availability of drugs to young people.

Action: Home Office.

Recommendation 11

A fully integrated approach should be taken to the development of policies designed to prevent the hazardous use of tobacco, alcohol and other drugs.

Action: All relevant government departments.

Recommendation 12

A greater emphasis should be placed on policies aimed at preventing hazardous tobacco, alcohol and other drug use by young people in their late teens and early twenties.

Action: All relevant government departments.

Recommendation 13

Given the poorer driving skills and higher accident rates among inexperienced young drivers, the Government should give consideration to reducing the maximum legal blood alcohol rate for drivers under 25 years of age to 50mg per 100ml. If successful, this could be extended to drivers of all ages.

Action: Department for Transport.

Recommendation 14

The Government should continue to invest heavily in minimising the number of children and young people in relative poverty and protecting and supporting the most disadvantaged and vulnerable children and young people throughout the UK. Among many benefits, enabling children to have more secure and happier lives may reduce their risk of becoming involved in hazardous and subsequently problematic use of tobacco, alcohol and other drugs. As far as practicable, the impact of these measures should be evaluated.

Action: HM Treasury, DH, DfES (now the DCSF), devolved administrations.

Recommendation 15

The ongoing debate about how best to bring up children should be informed by the evidence that good parenting and stable family life can reduce the risks of hazardous tobacco, alcohol and other drug use by young people.

Action: The media and government.

Recommendation 16

The National Treatment Agency should continue to promote and monitor the development of accessible services for young people with serious tobacco, alcohol or other drug-related problems across the country, and take active steps to ensure that these services are coordinated with other initiatives that engage with vulnerable young people.

Action: DH.

Recommendation 17

Following the example of the NTA, Scotland, Wales and Northern Ireland should also develop a coherent and specifically funded plan for providing and evaluating services for young people with serious tobacco, alcohol or other drug-related problems.

Action: Devolved administrations.

Recommendation 18

In addition to the other measures in *A Framework for Volatile Substance Abuse* (published in 2005), butane lighter fuels should be made impracticable for abuse and all gas fuel containers should carry a prominent safety warning.

Action: Department of Trade and Industry.

Recommendation 19

In the light of the evidence that classroom-based drugs education has very limited effectiveness in reducing rates of drug use, there should be a careful reassessment of the role of schools in drug misuse prevention. The emphasis should be on providing all pupils with accurate, credible and consistent information about the hazards of tobacco, alcohol and other drugs — including volatile substances.

Action: DfES (now the DCSF), devolved administrations.

Recommendation 20

All schools should seek to maintain a supportive environment for all their pupils, while recognising and responding to the needs of those whose behavioural problems or family background may put them at particular risk of hazardous drug use.

Action: DfES (now the DCSF), devolved administrations.

Recommendation 21

Drug testing and sniffer dogs should not be used in schools. We consider that the complex ethical, technical and organisational issues, the potential impact on the school–pupil relationship and the costs would not be offset by the potential gains.

Action: DfES (now the DCSF), devolved administrations.

Recommendation 22

All universities, colleges of further education and other major training institutions should take more responsibility for encouraging and enabling their students or trainees to minimise the hazardous use of tobacco, alcohol and other drugs.

Action: DfES (now the DCSF), devolved administrations.

Recommendation 23

The media, particularly television and radio, should be used more extensively and imaginatively than at present to inform young people of the real hazards of using tobacco, alcohol and other drugs.

Action: DH, Home Office, DCMS, devolved administrations.

Recommendation 24

Any future major drug prevention initiatives should be designed with evaluation in mind from the outset. They should be evaluated using scientifically rigorous methods, employing randomised controlled trials where possible. This should ensure that any conclusions on the effectiveness of the initiatives can be accepted with confidence, both in the UK and elsewhere.

Action: Home Office, DH, DfES (now the DCSF), devolved administrations.



Annex 2: Members of the Pathways to Problems Working Group

Ms Caroline Healy (Chair) National Adviser for the Commissioning of Mental Health

Services for Children in Secure Settings, Department of

Health

Ms Robyn Doran (Co-Chair) Mental Health Nurse and Director of Operations, North West

London Mental Health Trust

Mr Martin Barnes Chief Executive, DrugScope

Dr Margaret Birtwistle Specialist General Practitioner, Senior Tutor – Education and

Training Unit, St George's Hospital and Forensic Medical

Examiner

Mr Eric Carlin Chief Executive, Mentor UK

Professor Ilana Crome Professor of Addiction Psychiatry, Keele University

Mr Patrick Hargreaves Adviser for Drugs and Alcohol, Durham County Council,

Children and Young People's Services

District Judge Justin Phillips District Judge, Drugs Court, London

Mr Arthur Wing Assistant Chief Officer – Sussex Probation Area

Co-opted members

Rosemary Baker Head Teacher, Castle Rock High School, Leicester

Reverend Martin Blakebrough Director, Kaleidoscope Drugs Project, South Wales

Ms Vivienne Evans (OBE) CEO, Adfam

Kay Roberts Pharmacist, Glasgow



Annex 3: Members of the Advisory Council on the Misuse of Drugs

Member	Sector		
Professor David Nutt (FMedSci), Chair	Professor of Neuropsychopharmacology, Imperial College London		
Dr Dima Abdulrahim	Briefings Manager, National Treatment Agency		
Lord Victor Adebowale	Chief Executive, Turning Point		
Mr Martin Barnes	Chief Executive, DrugScope		
Dr Margaret Birtwistle	Specialist General Practitioner, Senior Tutor – Education and Training Unit, St George's Hospital and Forensic Medical Examiner		
Commander Simon Bray	Commander, Metropolitan Police		
Dr Simon Campbell (CBE)	Formerly Head of Worldwide Discovery, Pfizer		
Mr Eric Carlin	Chief Executive, Mentor UK		
Ms Carmel Clancy	Principal Lecturer in Mental Health and Addictions, Middlesex University		
Professor Ilana Crome	Professor of Addiction Psychiatry, Keele University		
Ms Robyn Doran	Mental Health Nurse and Director of Operations, North West London Mental Health Trust		
Mr Patrick Hargreaves	Adviser for Drugs and Alcohol, Durham County Council, Children and Young People's Services		
Ms Caroline Healy	National Adviser for the Commissioning of Mental Health Services for Children in Secure Settings, Department of Health		
Dr Matthew Hickman	Reader in Public Health and Epidemiology, Department of Social Medicine, University of Bristol		
Professor Leslie Iversen (FRS)	Professor of Pharmacology, Oxford University		
Dr Leslie King	Adviser to the Department of Health and the European Monitoring Centre for Drugs and Drug Addiction		
Mr David Liddell	Director, Scottish Drugs Forum		
Dr John Marsden	Reader in Psychology, Institute of Psychiatry (Adviser to the World Health Organization and United Nations)		
Mr Peter Martin (CBE)	Independent Consultant in Substance Misuse		
Dr Fiona Measham	Senior Lecturer in Criminology, Lancaster University		
Ms Anita Nolan	Consultant in Oral Medicine, Dundee Dental Hospital and School		

Member	Sector
Mr Trevor Pearce	Director of Enforcement, Serious Organised Crime Agency
District Judge Justin Phillips	District Judge, Drugs Court, London
Mr Richard Phillips	Independent Consultant, Phoenix Futures
Dr Ian Ragan	Pharmaceutical Industry Consultant (Head of European Scientific Affairs at Eli Lilly, Executive Director of the European Brain Council)
DCC Howard Roberts	Deputy Chief Constable, Nottinghamshire Police
Dr Mary Rowlands	Consultant Psychiatrist in Substance Misuse, Exeter
Dr Polly Taylor	Veterinary Surgeon, Cambridgeshire
Ms Monique Tomlinson	Freelance Consultant in Drugs Misuse
Mrs Marion Walker	Clinical Director, Substance Misuse Service, Berkshire Healthcare NHS Trust
Mr Arthur Wing	Assistant Chief Officer – Sussex Probation Area

Annex 4: Officials representing government departments

Jan Annan Department of Health

Gary Bannon Scottish Government

Marcus Bell Department for Children, Schools and Families

Andrew Burr Department for Transport

David Chater Department for Children, Schools and Families

Nicolas Garcia Department of Health

Chris Gazzard Department for Transport

Karen Gowler Home Office

Joe Griffin Scottish Government
Karen Jackson Scottish Government

John Lenaghan Welsh Assembly Government

John McCracken Department of Health
Isabel McNab Scottish Government

Fiona Marshall Department of Health

Gary Maxwell

Rob Phipps

Northern Ireland Assembly

Northern Ireland Assembly

Owen Roland Home Office

Matthew Scott Department for Children, Schools and Families

Simon White Department for Culture, Media and Sport

Home Office 2 Marsham Street London SW1P 4DF

© Crown Copyright 2009

ISBN: 978-1-84726-945-4

Produced by COI on behalf of the Home Office. July 2009. Ref: 296777



50% recycled This publication is printed on 50% recycled paper